ARCHIVIO DELLA RICERCA

University	of Parma	Research	Repository
------------	----------	----------	------------

The pluricomplex Poisson kernel for strongly pseudoconvex domains
This is a pre print version of the following article:
Original The pluricomplex Poisson kernel for strongly pseudoconvex domains / Bracci, Filippo; Saracco, Alberto; Trapani, Stefano In: ADVANCES IN MATHEMATICS ISSN 0001-8708 380:(2021). [10.1016/j.aim.2021.107577]
Availability: This version is available at: 11381/2887018 since: 2021-01-26T09:24:15Z Publisher: Elsevier
Published DOI:10.1016/j.aim.2021.107577
Terms of use: openAccess Anyone can freely access the full text of works made available as "Open Access". Works made available

(Article begins on next page)

Publisher copyright

THE PLURICOMPLEX POISSON KERNEL FOR STRONGLY PSEUDOCONVEX DOMAINS

FILIPPO BRACCI, ALBERTO SARACCO, AND STEFANO TRAPANI

ABSTRACT. In this paper we introduce, via a Phragmén-Lindelöf type theorem, a maximal plurisubharmonic function in a strongly pseudoconvex domain. We call such a function the *pluricomplex Poisson kernel* because it shares many properties with the classical Poisson kernel of the unit disc. In particular, we show that such a function is continuous, it is zero on the boundary except at one boundary point where it has a non-tangential simple pole, and reproduces pluriharmonic functions. We also use such a function to obtain a new "intrinsic" version of the classical Julia's Lemma and Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory's Theorem.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Definition and first properties	5
3.	Continuity	9
4.	Local behavior of the pluricomplex Poisson kernel at the pole	11
4.1.	Lempert's theory	11
4.2.	Defining couples adapted to a complex geodesic	13
4.3.	Entrapping strongly pseudoconvex domains between strongly convex domains	14
5.	Julia's lemma for strongly pseudoconvex domains in Stein manifolds	20
6.	An intrinsic Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory Theorem for strongly pseudoconvex domains	
	in \mathbb{C}^n	22
7.	Further properties of the pluricomplex Poisson kernel	25
8.	Pluricomplex Poisson kernel vs Pluricomplex Green function	27
9.	Reproducing formula	32
Ref	erences	35

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 32U15, 32T15, 32H50.

Key words and phrases. pluripotential theory; pluricomplex Poisson kernel; holomorphic dynamics; strongly pseudoconvex domains.

Partially supported by PRIN Real and Complex Manifolds: Topology, Geometry and holomorphic dynamics n.2017JZ2SW5, by GNSAGA of INdAM and by the MIUR Excellence Department Project awarded to the Department of Mathematics, University of Rome Tor Vergata, CUP E83C18000100006.

1. Introduction

The classical (negative) Poisson kernel in the unit disc $\mathbb{D}:=\{\zeta\in\mathbb{C}:|\zeta|<1\}$ with pole at $p\in\partial\mathbb{D}$ is defined as $P_{\mathbb{D},p}(\zeta)=-\frac{1-|\zeta|^2}{|p-\zeta|^2}$. It is a harmonic function, which is zero on $\partial\mathbb{D}\setminus\{p\}$ and has a simple pole along non-tangential limits at p. The sub-level sets of $P_{\mathbb{D},p}$ are the horocycles $E(p,R),\,R>0$, with vertex in p, which are just discs in \mathbb{D} tangent to p (see, e.g., [10, Section 1.4]). When p=1 we simply write $P_{\mathbb{D}}$ instead of $P_{\mathbb{D},1}$.

The classical Phragmén-Lindelöf Theorem (see, e.g. [14, Lemma 5.2]) states that, for every c>0, $cP_{\mathbb{D}}$ is the maximal element of the family of negative subharmonic functions u in \mathbb{D} such that $\limsup_{r\to 1} u(r)(1-r) \le -2c$. This maximality is fundamental to proving the following version of the classical Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory's Theorem (see, e.g. [10, Section 1.4] or [1, Section 1.2]):

Theorem 1.1 (Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory's Theorem). Let $f:\mathbb{D}\to\mathbb{D}$ be holomorphic. Let $p\in\partial\mathbb{D}$ and let

$$\lambda_p := \inf_{q \in \partial \mathbb{D}} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}} \frac{P_{\mathbb{D},p}(z)}{P_{\mathbb{D},q}(f(z))}.$$

If $\lambda_p < +\infty$ then there exists a unique point $q \in \partial D$ such that $f(E(p,R)) \subseteq E(q,\lambda_p R)$ for all R > 0. Moreover, $\angle \lim_{z \to p} f(z) = q$ and $\angle \lim_{z \to p} f'(z) = \overline{p}q\lambda_p$.

It is interesting to note that by the Phragmén-Lindelöf theorem, the global condition $\lambda_p < +\infty$ is equivalent to the local condition $\limsup_{(0,1)\ni r\to 1} \frac{P_{\mathbb{D},p}(rp)}{P_{\mathbb{D},q}(f(rp))} < +\infty$.

Moreover, as it is well known, the Poisson kernel is very effective for reproducing formulas, in particular, it allows to reproduce harmonic functions in \mathbb{D} which extends continuously to the boundary (see, e.g. [10, Section 1.6]).

In higher dimension, in [13, 14], the first and last named authors with G. Patrizio introduced a maximal plurisubharmonic function $\Omega_{D,p}$, in case $D\subset\mathbb{C}^n$ is a bounded strongly convex domains with smooth boundary and $p\in\partial D$ which solves a Phragmén-Lindelöf type problem, being the maximum of all negative plurisubharmonic functions in D which have at most simple poles along non-tangential limits at p. The function $\Omega_{D,p}$, which was constructed using the Chang-Hu-Lee spherical representation [15], is smooth and regular on $\overline{D}\setminus\{p\}$, zero on $\partial D\setminus\{p\}$ and solves a complex Monge-Ampère type problem. Its sub-level sets correspond to Abate's horospheres [1, 2] (which are in fact the Buseman horospheres for the Kobayashi metric) and the associated Monge-Ampère foliation is formed by the complex geodesics of D whose closure contains p. The function $\Omega_{D,p}$ can also be used to reproduce pluri(sub)harmonic functions, as it is essentially the Demailly's [16] Poisson measure on ∂D . Also, in [9, Section 2], it was proved that $\Omega_{D,p}$ can be used to obtain a version of Julia's Lemma and Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory's Theorem in strongly convex domains, relating Abate's [2] version of those theorems to the pluricomplex Poisson kernel. For those reasons, $\Omega_{D,p}$ was called the pluricomplex Poisson kernel of D with pole at p.

In the recent paper [24], via a careful study of properties of complex geodesics in lower regular convex domains, X. Huang and X. Wang showed that a pluricomplex Poisson kernel is well defined, with essentially the same properties, in bounded strongly linearly convex domains with C^3 -smooth boundary.

Also, in [29], E. Poletsky used the pluricomplex Poisson kernel introduced in [13, 14] to show that the pluripotential boundary of a bounded smooth strongly convex domain is homeomorphic to its Euclidean boundary.

In this paper we deal with the pluricomplex Poisson kernel for bounded strongly pseudoconvex domains with smooth boundary. Using the techniques introduced in [24] one can lower the required boundary regularity, but we are not interested in this aspect in this paper.

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Part of the results are in fact proved for strongly pseudoconvex domains in Stein manifolds, but for the sake of simplicity, in this introduction we restrict to the case of \mathbb{C}^n .

Let $p \in \partial D$ and let ν_p be the outer unit normal of ∂D at p. We consider the following family S_p :

$$\begin{cases} u \in \mathsf{Psh}(D) \\ u < 0 \quad \text{in } D \\ \limsup_{t \to 1} u(\gamma(t))(1-t) \leq -2\mathsf{Re} \, \frac{1}{\langle \gamma'(1), \nu_p \rangle}, \end{cases}$$

where $\gamma:[0,1]\to D\cup\{p\}$ is any smooth curve such that $\gamma([0,1))\subset D,\ \gamma(1)=p,$ and $\gamma'(1)\not\in T_p\partial D,$ Psh(D) denotes the family of plurisubharmonic functions in D and $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$ denotes the standard Hermitian product in \mathbb{C}^n .

Our first result is the following:

Theorem 1.2. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary and let $p \in \partial D$. Then, there exists a maximal plurisubharmonic function $\Omega_{D,p} \in \mathcal{S}_p$, which we call the pluricomplex Poisson kernel of D at p, such that $u \leq \Omega_{D,p}$ for all $u \in \mathcal{S}_p$. Moreover, $\Omega_{D,p}$ is continuous in $\overline{D} \setminus \{p\}$, $\Omega_{D,p}(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \partial D \setminus \{p\}$ and

$$\lim_{t \to 1} \Omega_{D,p}(\gamma(t))(1-t) = -2\operatorname{Re} \frac{1}{\langle \gamma'(1), \nu_p \rangle},$$

for any $\gamma:[0,1]\to D\cup\{p\}$ which is a smooth curve such that $\gamma([0,1))\subset D$, $\gamma(1)=p$ and $\gamma'(1)\not\in T_p\partial D$.

This result holds also when D is a smooth bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain in a Stein manifold and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is replaced with a linear functional at p which defines $T_p \partial D$ (see Section 2 for details).

In strongly convex domains the continuity of $\Omega_{D,p}$ and the behavior on $\partial D \setminus \{p\}$ come for free by the Chang-Hu-Lee spherical representation. In strongly pseudoconvex domains, this is not the case. In Proposition 2.8 we prove the first properties of $\Omega_{D,p}$, while continuity is proved in Section 3 using Jensen's measures.

In particular, by the previous theorem it follows that $\Omega_{D,p}$ is a solution of the following complex Monge-Ampère problem:

$$\begin{cases} u \in \mathsf{Psh}(D) \cap L^\infty_{loc}(D) \\ (dd^c u)^n = 0 \quad \text{in } D \\ u < 0 \quad \text{in } D \\ u(x) = 0 \quad \text{for } x \in \partial D \\ u(z) \sim |z - p|^{-1} \quad \text{as } z \to p \text{ non-tangentially.} \end{cases}$$

It is not known whether $\Omega_{D,p}$ is the *unique* solution to such a problem, not even in the convex case. However, as in the convex case, we can prove that if u is a maximal negative plurisubharmonic function in D such that $\lim_{z\to x} u(z)=0$ for all $x\in\partial D$ and $\lim_{z\to p} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}(z)}{u(z)}=1$, then $u\equiv\Omega_{D,p}$ (see Proposition 7.1).

Next, we study in depth the behavior of $\Omega_{D,p}$ near p. To this aim, we introduce a tool, which we call "entrapping strongly pseudoconvex domains between strongly convex domains", which might be useful for other purposes (see Section 4). Using this, we are able to compare $\Omega_{D,p}$ with the pluricomplex Poisson kernels of strongly convex domains. More precisely, if U is a small neighborhood of p so that $B:=U\cap D$ is biholomorphic to a strongly convex domain with smooth boundary, then we show that $\lim_{z\to p} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}(z)}{\Omega_{B,p}(z)} = 1$, and that the two kernels in fact coincide on the "quasi" complex tangential directions at p. From this, making use of Lempert's theory [26, 27, 28] and Huang's preservation principle [23], we prove that there exists an open set $J\subset D$, whose closure contains p, and contains all "quasi complex-tangential directions" at p, such that $\Omega_{D,p}$ is C^{∞} -smooth on J, $(dd^c\Omega_{D,p})^{n-1}\neq 0$ on J and the associated Monge-Ampère foliation on J formed by complex geodesics of D whose closure contains p, which are also holomorphic retracts of D (see Proposition 4.10).

Then we extend Julia's Lemma (see Theorem 5.3) and Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory's Theorem (see Theorem 6.1) to strongly pseudoconvex domains using the pluricomplex Poisson kernels. Versions of these theorems have been proved in strongly pseudoconvex domains by M. Abate [3]. The novelty of our result is that, as in Theorem 1.1 and in strongly convex domains, we can relate the number λ_p with the behavior of the normal part of the derivative of f along the normal direction, a link which was missing in Abate's result. We also show that the hypotheses of Abate's theorem are equivalent to the one using pluricomplex Poisson's kernels.

The final aim of the paper is to prove a representation formula for pluri(sub)harmonic functions on strongly pseudoconvex domains. We first show (see Proposition 8.3) that, in case the pluricomplex Green function G_D of D is symmetric, then for all $z \in D$,

(1.1)
$$-\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p} = \Omega_{D,p}(z).$$

In order to prove this formula, we use the symmetry of G_D and a result of Z. Błocki [7, 8] to show that $-\frac{\partial G_D(\cdot,p)}{\partial \nu_p}$ is a maximal plurisubharmonic function in D, zero on $\partial D \setminus \{p\}$. Then,

using the "entrapping trick" we show that $\lim_{z\to p}\frac{-\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p}}{\Omega_{D,p}(z)}=1$, from which it follows that the two functions are equal.

It should be noticed that, arguing as in [29], the previous formula allows to prove that the Poletsky potential boundary of D is homeomorphic to the Euclidean boundary of D.

Once we have (1.1) at hand, we can prove that Demailly's Poisson measure on ∂D concides with $|\Omega_{D,p}(z)|^n\omega_{\partial D}$, where $\omega_{\partial D}$ is a measure on ∂D steaming essentially from the Levi form of D (see Lemma 9.2). Hence (see Theorem 9.3), we get that if f is plurisubharmonic in D and continuous on \overline{D} ,

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\partial D} f(\xi) |\Omega_{D,\xi}(z)|^n \omega_{\partial D}(\xi)$$
$$-\frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{w \in D} |G_D(z, w)| dd^c f(w) \wedge (dd^c G_D(z, w))^{n-1}.$$

We warmly thank the referees for the careful reading of the original manuscript and for many comments which improved a lot the paper.

2. DEFINITION AND FIRST PROPERTIES

Let M be a Stein manifold with complex structure J. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Given $p \in \partial D$ we let $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$ be the complex tangent space to ∂D at p. We write

$$T_p \partial D \setminus T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D = K^+ \cup K^-,$$

where $v \in K^+$ if -Jv points outside the domain D. Let $\alpha_p : T_p \partial D \to \mathbb{R}$ be a linear map such that $\operatorname{Ker} \alpha_p = T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$ and $\alpha_p|_{K^+} > 0$, in other words, α_p is a point of the fiber over p of the bundle of contact forms over ∂D . Notice that α_p is uniquely defined up to multiplication by a positive constant. In the sequel we will denote by $\mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$ the set of forms α_p as above.

Let $v_0 \in K^+$ be such that $\alpha_p(v_0) = 1$. Given $w \in T_pM$ we can write uniquely $w = u - \theta_{v_0}(w)Jv_0$ for some $u \in T_p^{\mathbb{C}}\partial D$ and $\theta_{v_0}(w) \in \mathbb{C}$.

Note that if $v_1 \in T_p \partial D$ is another vector such that $\alpha_p(v_1) = 1$, then $v_1 - v_0 \in T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$ and $\theta_{v_1}(w) = \theta_{v_0}(w)$ for every $w \in T_p M$. Thus θ_{v_0} depends only on α_p and we can write $\theta_{\alpha_p} := \theta_{v_0}$. Note that $\theta_{\alpha_p} : T_p M \to \mathbb{C}$ is \mathbb{C} -linear, $T_p \partial D = \ker \operatorname{Re}(\theta_{\alpha_p})$ and $\operatorname{Im}(\theta_{\alpha_p}|_{T_p \partial D}) = \alpha_p$.

Definition 2.1. For short, in the rest of the paper, we call the couple $(\alpha_p, \theta_{\alpha_p})$ a defining couple for $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$.

We let Γ_p be the set of all C^{∞} curves $\gamma:[0,1]\to D\cup\{p\}$ such that $\gamma(t)\in D$ for $t\in[0,1)$, $\gamma(1)=p$ and $\gamma'(1)\not\in T_p\partial D$. Note that, for what we discussed above, $\gamma'(1)\not\in T_p\partial D$ if and only if $\operatorname{Re}\theta_{\alpha_p}(\gamma'(1))>0$.

Consider the following family $S_{\alpha_p}(D)$:

$$\begin{cases} u \in \mathsf{Psh}(D) \\ u < 0 \quad \text{in } D \\ \limsup_{t \to 1} u(\gamma(t))(1-t) \le -2\mathsf{Re}\left[\theta_{\alpha_p}(\gamma'(1))^{-1}\right] \quad \text{for all } \gamma \in \Gamma_p, \end{cases}$$

Remark 2.2. Let $\mathbb{D}:=\{\zeta\in\mathbb{C}:|\zeta|<1\}$. Let $P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta):=-(1-|\zeta|^2)/(|1-\zeta|^2)$ be the Poisson kernel. If $\sigma:[0,1]\to\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ is a C^1 -curve such that $\sigma(1)=1$ and $\sigma([0,1))\subset\mathbb{D}$ with $\sigma'(1)\neq 0$ then

$$\lim_{t\to 1^-} P_{\mathbb{D}}(\sigma(t))(1-t) = -2\operatorname{Re}\frac{1}{\sigma'(1)}.$$

Lemma 2.3. Let M be a Stein manifold and let $D \subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p, q \in \partial D$, $q \neq p$. For every $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$, the family $\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$ contains a function $u_q : D \to \mathbb{R}$ with the following properties:

- (1) u_q is continuous in D and extends continuously on $\partial D \setminus \{p\}$,
- (2) $u_q(q) = 0$,
- (3) $\lim_{t\to 1} u_q(\gamma(t))(1-t) = -2\operatorname{Re}\left[\theta_{\alpha_p}(\gamma'(1))\right]^{-1}$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma_p$.

Proof. Replacing M with a suitable Stein neighborhood of \overline{D} , we can assume that \overline{D} is holomorphically convex in M.

We can choose a positive definite Hermitian metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on T_pM and $v_0 \in K^+$ such that $\nu_p := -Jv_0$ is a unit normal vector pointing outward. Thus for every $w \in T_pM$ we have $\theta_{\alpha_p}(w) = \langle w, \nu_p \rangle$.

Let $f: \overline{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a holomorphic peak function for D at \underline{p} , namely, f is a smooth function on \overline{D} such that $\underline{f}: D \to \mathbb{D}$ is holomorphic, f(p) = 1 and $f(\overline{D} \setminus \{p\}) \subset \mathbb{D}$ (in case $M \neq \mathbb{C}^n$, it exists because \overline{D} is holomorphically convex in M, see [21, IX.C.7] [19, Corollary 11]).

By Hopf's lemma, $\lambda:=df_p(\nu_p)=\frac{\partial f}{\partial \nu_p}(p)>0$. Also, $|f|^2$ restricted to ∂D has a maximum at p and f(p)=1. Thus $d(|f|^2)_p=2{\rm Re}\,(f(p)df_p)=2{\rm Re}\,(df_p)$ vanishes on $T_p\partial D$. Hence df_p is a positive multiple of θ_{α_p} , i.e., $df_p(w)=\lambda\langle w,\nu_p\rangle$ for all $w\in T_pM$.

Now, let $\tilde{u}(z) := \lambda P_{\mathbb{D},1} \circ f$. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma_p$. Then by Remark 2.2

$$\lim_{t\to 1} \tilde{u}(\gamma(t))(1-t) = -2\lambda \mathrm{Re}\,(df_p(\gamma'(1)))^{-1}) = -\frac{2\lambda}{\lambda} \mathrm{Re}\,\frac{1}{\langle \gamma'(1),\nu_p\rangle} = -2\mathrm{Re}\,\frac{1}{\langle \gamma'(1),\nu_p\rangle}.$$

Now let $g:\overline{D}\to\mathbb{C}$ be a holomorphic peak function for D at q. Let $\phi(z):=|g(z)|^2-1$. Then $\phi\in \mathrm{Psh}(D),\,\phi$ is continuous up to $\overline{D},\,\phi(q)=0$ and $\phi(z)<0$ for $z\in\overline{D}\setminus\{p\}$. Let U be a relatively compact open neighborhood of p whose closure does not contain q. Then $\phi|_{\overline{U}\cap\overline{D}}<0$. Since both \tilde{u} and ϕ are continuous on $\partial U\cap\overline{D}$, there exists $\rho>0$ such that $\rho\phi<\tilde{u}$ on $\partial U\cap\overline{D}$. Therefore the function

$$u_q(z) := \begin{cases} \tilde{u}(z) & \text{if } z \in U \\ \max{\{\tilde{u}(z), \rho\phi(z)\}} & \text{if } z \in D \setminus U \end{cases}$$

belongs to $S_{\alpha_p}(D)$ and has the properties stated in the lemma.

Definition 2.4. Let M be a Stein manifold. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$. The pluricomplex Poisson kernel of D at p relative to α_p is

$$\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z) := \sup\{u(z) : u \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)\}.$$

Remark 2.5. The pluricomplex Poisson kernel defined in [13] and [14] for a strongly convex domain $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is the one corresponding to the standard form κ_p such that $\kappa_p(J\nu_p)=1$ and $\mathrm{Ker}\kappa_p=T_p^\mathbb{C}(\partial D)$ where ν_p is the outer unit normal vector to ∂D at p with respect to the standard Hermitian metric of \mathbb{C}^n .

Proposition 2.6. Let M be a Stein manifold. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$. Then

- (1) for all $\rho > 0$, $u \in \mathcal{S}_{\rho\alpha_p}(D)$ if and only if $\rho u \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$. In particular, $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p} = \rho \Omega_{D,p}^{\rho\alpha_p}$
- (2) Let M' be another complex manifold and let $D' \subset M'$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $q \in \partial D'$. Let $F : \overline{D} \to \overline{D'}$ be a diffeomorphism such that $F : D \to D'$ is holomorphic. Then $u \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_q}(D')$ if and only if $F^*(u) := u \circ F \in \mathcal{S}_{F^*(\alpha_q)}(D)$. In particular $F^*(\Omega_{D',q}^{\alpha_q}) = \Omega_{D,F^{-1}(q)}^{F^*(\alpha_q)}$.

Proof. These are just direct computations. We only point out that, in (2), $dF_p(K^+) = K^+$ for all $p \in \partial D$, so that if $\alpha_q \in \mathcal{H}_q(\partial D')$ then $F^*(\alpha_q) \in \mathcal{H}_{F^{-1}(q)}(\partial D)$.

In the sequel we will need to characterize the pluricomplex Poisson kernel as the supremum of another (equivalent) family. Let M be a complex manifold. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$. Let $D' \subset D$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary which is tangent to D at p. Let

$$\mathcal{U}_{D',\alpha_p}(D) := \{ u \in \mathsf{Psh}(D) : u < 0, u|_{D'} \le \Omega_{D',p}^{\alpha_p} \}.$$

Lemma 2.7. Let M be a Stein manifold. Let $D \subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$. Let $D' \subset D$ be a domain with smooth boundary which is biholomorphic to a bounded strongly convex domain of \mathbb{C}^n with smooth boundary, and assume that D' is tangent to D at p. Then $\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D) = \mathcal{U}_{D',\alpha_p}(D)$.

Proof. Let $u \in \mathcal{U}_{D',\alpha_p}(D)$. If $\gamma \in \Gamma_p$, then eventually the curve γ is contained in D'. Let $F: D' \to D''$ be a biholomorphism from D' to a bounded strongly convex domain $D'' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. By Fefferman's theorem [18] the map F extends smoothly to $\overline{D'}$. By Proposition 2.6

$$\Omega_{D',p}^{\alpha_p} = \rho^{-1} F^*(\Omega_{D'',F(p)}),$$

where $\Omega_{D'',F(p)}$ is the pluricomplex Poisson kernel of D'' at F(p) relative to the standard form $\kappa_{F(p)}$ (see Remark 2.5) and $\rho > 0$ is such that $\alpha_p = \rho F^*(\kappa_{F(p)})$. By [14, Corollary 5.3] for all $\widetilde{\gamma} \in \Gamma_{F(p)}$ it holds

(2.2)
$$\lim_{t \to 1} \rho^{-1} \Omega_{D'',F(p)}(\widetilde{\gamma}(t))(1-t) = -2\operatorname{Re}\left(\langle \widetilde{\gamma}'(1), \nu_{F(p)} \rangle^{-1}\right),$$

where $\nu_{F(p)}$ is the standard outer unit normal vector to $\partial D''$ at F(p). Hence

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t\to 1} u(\gamma(t))(1-t) &\leq \limsup_{t\to 1} \Omega_{D',p}^{\alpha_p}(\gamma(t))(1-t) = \\ \limsup_{t\to 1} \rho^{-1}\Omega_{D'',F(p)}(F\circ\gamma(t))(1-t) &= -\frac{2}{\rho}\mathrm{Re}\left[\langle dF_p(\gamma'(1)),\nu_{F(p)}\rangle^{-1}\right] = \\ &-\frac{2}{\rho}\mathrm{Re}\left[\theta_{\kappa_{F(p)}}(dF_p(\gamma'(1))^{-1}\right] = -2\mathrm{Re}\left[\theta_{\alpha_p}(\gamma'(1))^{-1}\right]. \end{split}$$

Thus $u \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$.

Conversely, if $u \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$ then clearly $u|_{D'} \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D')$. But then $u|_{D'} \leq \Omega_{D',p}^{\alpha_p}$ by [14, Theorem 5.1]. Hence $u \in \mathcal{U}_{D',\alpha_p}(D)$.

As a consequence we have the following proposition:

Proposition 2.8. Let M be a Stein manifold. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$. Then

- (1) $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is upper semicontinuous and belongs to $\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$,
- (2) $\lim_{z\to q} \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z) = 0$ for all $q \in \partial D \setminus \{p\}$,
- (3) $\lim_{t\to 1} \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(\gamma(t))(1-t) = -2\operatorname{Re}\left[\theta_{\alpha_p}(\gamma'(1))\right]^{-1}$ for all $\gamma\in\Gamma_p$,
- (4) $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p} \in L_{\mathsf{loc}}^{\infty}(D)$,
- (5) $\Omega_{D,v}^{\alpha_p}$ is a maximal plurisubharmonic function in D, hence $(dd^c\Omega_{D,v}^{\alpha_p})^n \equiv 0$ in D.
- Proof. (1) Let v be the upper semicontinuous regularization of $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$. Let $B \subset D$ be a domain biholomorphic to a ball in \mathbb{C}^n which is tangent to ∂D at p. By Lemma 2.7, $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}|_B \leq \Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha_p}$. Since $\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is smooth, $v|_B \leq \Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha_p}$ as well. Hence $v \in \mathcal{U}_{B,\alpha_p}(D)$, hence $v \leq \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$, again by Lemma 2.7. This proves that $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is upper semicontinuous, hence plurisubharmonic, and then belongs to $\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$.
 - (2), (3) and (4) Let $q \in \partial D \setminus \{p\}$. Let $u_q \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$ be given by Lemma 2.3. Then $u_q \leq \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p} \leq 0$,

which proves that $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is locally bounded in D. Moreover, since $u_q(z) \to 0$ as $z \to q$, $\lim_{z\to q} \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z) = 0$. Also, (3) follows from Lemma 2.3.(3) and $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p} \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$. (5) Let U be a relatively compact open subset of D. Let u be an upper semicontinuous

(5) Let \overline{U} be a relatively compact open subset of D. Let u be an upper semicontinuous function on \overline{U} which is plurisubharmonic in U and such that $u \leq \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ on ∂U . By the maximum principle, u < 0 in U. Let

$$\tilde{u}(z) := \begin{cases} \max\{u(z), \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z)\} & \text{if } z \in U \\ \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z) & \text{if } z \in D \setminus U \end{cases}$$

Then $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$. Hence $\tilde{u} \leq \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$. Therefore $u \leq \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ in U, showing that $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is maximal. By [5], [6] it follows $(dd^c\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p})^n \equiv 0$.

Lemma 2.7 holds in general for any couple of strongly pseudoconvex domains:

Proposition 2.9. Let M be a Stein manifold. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$. Let $D' \subset D$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary tangent to D at p. Then $\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D) = \mathcal{U}_{D',\alpha_p}(D)$.

Proof. The proof goes exactly as in Lemma 2.7, replacing (2.2) with Proposition 2.8.(3). \Box

3. Continuity

Lemma 3.1. Let M be a Stein manifold. Let $D \subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let u be upper semicontinuous on \overline{D} such that $u \in \mathsf{Psh}(D)$. Then there exists a sequence $\{u_j\}$ of continuous functions on \overline{D} with range in $(-\infty, +\infty)$ such that $u_j \in \mathsf{Psh}(D)$ and $u_j \searrow u$ pointwise on \overline{D} .

Proof. By Fornæss embedding theorem [19, Theorem 9] there exists a holomorphic embedding G of \overline{D} into a strongly convex domain \overline{C} such that $G(D) \subset C$. Hence G(D) is an analytic variety in the B-regular domain C, and we can apply Wikström's theorem [30, Theorem 2.3]. Therefore we can find a sequence \tilde{u}_j of continuous functions on $G(\overline{D})$ which are plurisubharmonic on G(D) and $\tilde{u}_j \searrow (G^{-1})^*u$ pointwise on $G(\overline{D})$. Setting $u_j := \max\{G^*\tilde{u}_j, -j\}$ we get the claim.

Proposition 3.2. Let M be a Stein manifold of dimension n. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let $\alpha_p \in \mathcal{H}_p(\partial D)$. Then $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is continuous on $\overline{D} \setminus \{p\}$.

Proof. By Proposition 2.8, $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ belongs to the family $\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$, hence it is upper semicontinuous.

In order to show lower-semicontinuity, we use a variation of the method of *Jensen measures* and Edwards' theorem (see [30], [31]).

Let $a \in D$. We shall prove that $\Omega_{D,n}^{\alpha_p}$ is continuous in a.

Since M is Stein, there exists a holomorphic embedding $G: M \to \mathbb{C}^N$, for some $N \ge n$. Let $T:=dG_p(T_pM)$ and choose a complementary (N-n)-dimensional complex space $L \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ such that the projection π of \mathbb{C}^N onto T along L does not map G(a) in $dG_p(T_p(\partial D))$. By construction, there exists an open neighborhood U of p in M such that $F:=\pi\circ G$ is a biholomorphism on U. Therefore, $F(\partial D)$ is strongly pseudoconvex at F(p) and there is a ball B in F(U) that is tangent to $F(\partial D)$ at F(p) and does not intersect $dF_p(T_p\partial D)$.

We can choose coordinates $w=(w_1,\ldots,w_n)$ on T (so that T is naturally identified with \mathbb{C}^n) such that $F(p)=e_1=(1,0\ldots,0), dF_p(T_p\partial D)=\{w:\operatorname{Re}(w_1-1)=0\}, \text{ and } B=\mathbb{B}^n.$

Let $\mathbb{B}' := (F|_U)^{-1}(\mathbb{B}^n)$. Let $h(z) := F_1(z) - 1$ (here $F_1 := w_1 \circ F$) and let $H := \{z \in M : h(z) = 0\}$. Note that H is an analytic hypersurface in M, that $D \setminus H$ is dense in D, $a \notin H$, $\mathbb{B}' \cap H = \emptyset$ and that H is non singular at p and tangent to ∂D at p.

The Poisson kernel of \mathbb{B}^n at e_1 associated to the standard Hermitian metric of \mathbb{C}^n is given by

$$\Omega_{\mathbb{B}^n, e_1}(w) = -\frac{1 - ||w||^2}{|1 - w_1|^2}.$$

Multiplying $\Omega_{\mathbb{B}^n,e_1}$ by a positive constant if necessary, we may assume that $F^*(\Omega_{\mathbb{B}^n,e_1})=\Omega_{\mathbb{B}^\prime,p}^{\alpha_p}$. Let $\mathcal{P}^{ba}(D)$ be the cone of all bounded from above plurisubharmonic functions in D and let $\mathcal{P}^c(\overline{D})$ be the cone of all coontinuous function in \overline{D} which are plurisubharmonic in D. We let $\mathcal{F}:=|h|^2\mathcal{P}^{ba}(D)$ and $\mathcal{F}^c:=|h|^2\mathcal{P}^c(\overline{D})$.

Since $|h|^2$ is bounded on \overline{D} , the functions in \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^c are bounded from above. Therefore, the functions in \mathcal{F} can be extended on ∂D as upper semicontinuous functions.

Let

$$\tilde{g}(z) = \begin{cases} \Omega_{\mathbb{B}',p}^{\alpha_p}(z) & z \in \mathbb{B}' \\ 0 & z \notin \mathbb{B}' \end{cases}$$

and set $g(z) := \tilde{g}(z)|h(z)|^2$.

Note that for $z \in \mathbb{B}'$,

$$g(z) = \Omega_{\mathbb{B}',p}(z)|F_1(z) - 1|^2 = (\Omega_{\mathbb{B}^n,e_1}(w) \cdot |w_1 - 1|^2) \circ F(z)$$

= $-(1 - ||w||^2) \circ F(z)$,

and then the function g is ≤ 0 and continuous on \overline{D} .

Let

$$S^{\mathcal{F}}(g)(z) := \sup_{u \in \mathcal{F}, u \le g} u(z),$$

and similarly we define $S^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g)(z)$.

For a point $z \in \overline{D}$ we let

$$\mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}} := \left\{ \nu_z \text{ positive finite Borel measure on } \overline{D} : u(z) \leq \int_{\overline{D}} u d\nu_z \quad \forall u \in \mathcal{F} \right\}$$

and similarly define

$$\mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}^c} := \left\{
u_z \text{ positive finite Borel measure on } \overline{D} : u(z) \leq \int_{\overline{D}} u d\nu_z \quad \forall u \in \mathcal{F}^c
ight\}.$$

Since $\mathcal{F}^c \subseteq \mathcal{F}$, it follows immediately $\mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}} \subseteq \mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}^c}$.

We claim that actually $\mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}}=\mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}^c}$. In order to prove such equality, let $\nu_z\in\mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}^c}$ and let $v\in\mathcal{F}$. Let \tilde{v} be the upper semicontinuous extension to \overline{D} of $\overline{D}\setminus H\ni z\mapsto v(z)/|h(z)|^2$. By definition $\tilde{v}\in\mathsf{Psh}(D)\cap\mathsf{usc}(\overline{D})$. By Lemma 3.1 there exists a sequence $\{\tilde{u}_j\}\subset\mathsf{Psh}(D)$ of continuous functions on \overline{D} such that $\tilde{u}_j\searrow \tilde{v}$ pointwise on \overline{D} . Set $u_j(z):=\tilde{u}_j(z)|h(z)|^2$ for $z\in\overline{D}$. Since \tilde{u}_j is bounded from below, then $u_j|_H\equiv 0$. By construction $u_j\in\mathcal{F}^c$ and $u_j\searrow v$ pointwise on \overline{D} . Hence

$$\int_{\overline{D}} v d\nu_z = \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\overline{D}} u_j d\nu_z \ge \lim_{j \to \infty} u_j(z) \ge v(z),$$

and therefore $\nu_z \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}}^z$, proving the equality.

Now, we let

$$I^{\mathcal{F}}(g)(z) := \inf \left\{ \int_{\overline{D}} g d\nu_z : \nu_z \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}}^z \right\},$$

and similarly we define

$$I^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g)(z) := \inf \left\{ \int_{\overline{D}} g d\nu_z : \nu_z \in \mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}^c} \right\}.$$

Since $\mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{I}^z_{\mathcal{F}^c}$ it follows $I^{\mathcal{F}}(g) = I^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g)$.

Now, both \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^c are cones of upper bounded, upper semicontinuous functions, thus by Edwards' theorem (see [31, Theorem 2.1] and its proof at p. 183) $S^{\mathcal{F}}(g) = I^{\mathcal{F}}(g)$ and $S^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g) = I^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g)$.

 $S^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g) = I^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g)$. Hence $S^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g) = S^{\mathcal{F}}(g)$ which implies that the function $S^{\mathcal{F}}(g)$ is the supremum of continuous functions (with, a priori, range in $[-\infty, 0]$) and therefore it is lower semicontinuous.

Let $u \in \mathcal{F}$ be such that $u \leq g$. Write $u = |h|^2 \tilde{u}$ for some $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{P}^{ba}(D)$. Then $\tilde{u} \leq |h|^{-2}g$ on D. Since $H \cap \mathbb{B}' = \emptyset$, and $g \equiv 0$ outside \mathbb{B}' , it follows that $\tilde{u} \leq \Omega^{\alpha_p}_{\mathbb{B}',p}$ in \mathbb{B}' and $\tilde{u} \leq 0$ in D and, actually, by the maximum principle, $\tilde{u} < 0$ in D. In other words, $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbb{B}',\alpha_p}(D)$. Conversely, if $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbb{B}',\alpha_p}(D)$ then $u := |h|^2 \tilde{u} \in \mathcal{F}$ and $u \leq g$ in D. Therefore,

$$|h|^2 \mathcal{U}_{\mathbb{B}',\alpha_p}(D) = \{ u \in \mathcal{F} : u \le g \}.$$

By Lemma 2.7, we have

$$S^{\mathcal{F}^c}(g) = S^{\mathcal{F}}(g) = \sup_{u \in \mathcal{F}, u \leq g} u = |h|^{-2} \sup_{\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbb{B}', \alpha_n}(D)} \tilde{u} = |h|^{-2} \sup_{\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)} \tilde{u} = |h|^{-2} \Omega_{D, p}^{\alpha_p}.$$

Since $h(a) \neq 0$, the previous equality implies that $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is lower semicontinuous at a. But $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is upper semicontinuous at a by Proposition 2.8, hence it is continuous at a.

By the arbitrariness of $a \in D$, $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is continuous in D and, by Proposition 2.8(2), it extends continuously as 0 to $\partial D \setminus \{p\}$. Hence $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is continuous in $\overline{D} \setminus \{p\}$.

4. Local behavior of the pluricomplex Poisson Kernel at the pole

4.1. **Lempert's theory.** Now we need to briefly recall Lempert's theory [26, 27, 28]. For all unproven statements, we refer the reader to [14, Sections 1, 2 and 3].

Let $K \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly convex domain with smooth boundary. A *complex geodesic* $\varphi: \mathbb{D} \to K$ is a holomorphic map which is an isometry between the hyperbolic metric/distance of \mathbb{D} and the Kobayashi metric/distance of K. Every complex geodesics in K extends smoothly up to the boundary of \mathbb{D} . Given a point $q \in \partial K$ and $v \notin T_q^{\mathbb{C}} \partial K$ there exists a complex geodesic $\varphi: \mathbb{D} \to K$ such that $\varphi(1) = q$ and $\varphi'(1) = \lambda v$ for some $\lambda \neq 0$. Moreover, it is unique up to pre-composition with automorphisms of \mathbb{D} fixing 1.

To every complex geodesic φ is associated a holomorphic retraction $\rho: K \to \varphi(\mathbb{D})$ such that $\rho \circ \rho = \rho$, and it is the unique holomorphic retraction on $\varphi(\mathbb{D})$ with affine fibers ([14, Prop. 3.3]), which we call the *Lempert projection*. The Lempert projection ρ is smooth up to

 \overline{K} and $\rho(z) \in \partial \varphi(\mathbb{D})$ if and only if $z \in \partial \varphi(\mathbb{D})$. The map $\tilde{\rho} := \varphi^{-1} \circ \rho : K \to \mathbb{D}$ is called the *left-inverse* of φ .

Lempert [27, Proposition 11] proved that, given any complex geodesic φ , there exists a biholomorphism $\Phi: K \to \Phi(K)$, which extends as a diffeomorphism up to ∂K such that $\Phi(\varphi(\zeta)) = (\zeta, 0, \dots, 0), \Phi(K)$ is strongly convex near $\Phi(\partial \varphi(\mathbb{D})), \Phi(K) \subset \mathbb{D} \times \mathbb{C}^{n-1}$ and the associated Lempert projection ρ_S (that is, $\rho_S = \Phi \circ \rho \circ \Phi^{-1}$) is given by $\rho_S(z) = (z_1, 0, \dots, 0)$. We call Φ the Lempert special coordinates adapted to $\varphi(\mathbb{D})$.

Remark 4.1. Let B,W be two bounded strongly convex domains with smooth boundary such that $B \subset W$. Assume there exist $p \in \partial B$ and a neighborhood U of p such that $B \cap U = W \cap U$. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{D} \to W$ be a complex geodesic of W such that $\varphi(1) = p$ and suppose that $\varphi(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) \subset U$. Let $\rho : W \to \varphi(\mathbb{D})$ be the Lempert projection. Hence, $\rho|_B : B \to \varphi(\mathbb{D})$ is a holomorphic retraction and it is then easy to prove that φ is a complex geodesic for B as well. It is easy to see that, if Φ are Lempert special coordinates for W adapted to φ , then $\Phi|_B$ are Lempert special coordinates for B adapted to φ .

Let

$$(4.1) L_p := \{ v \in \mathbb{C}^n : |v| = 1, \langle v, \nu_p \rangle > 0, iv \in T_p \partial K \}$$

where ν_p is the outer unit normal vector to ∂K at p and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the standard Hermitian product. According to Chang-Hu-Lee [15] for every $v \in L_p$ there exists a unique complex geodesic $\varphi_v : \mathbb{D} \to B$ such that $\varphi_v(1) = p$, $\varphi_v'(1) = \langle v, \nu_p \rangle v$ and $\operatorname{Im} \langle \varphi''(1), \nu_p \rangle = 0$.

Definition 4.2. A complex geodesic in K parameterized so that $\varphi_v(1) = p$, $\varphi_v'(1) = \langle v, \nu_p \rangle v$ and $\operatorname{Im} \langle \varphi''(1), \nu_p \rangle = 0$ is called a *CHL complex geodesic*.

Given a complex geodesic $\eta: \mathbb{D} \to K$ such that $p \in \eta(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$, there exists an automorphism h of \mathbb{D} such that $\eta \circ h$ is a CHL complex geodesic.

In the sequel we need the following result, which can be seen as a sort of converse of [11, Prop. 2.5]:

Lemma 4.3. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly convex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let ν_p be the outer unit normal vector of ∂D at p. Let $\{\varphi_j\}$ be a sequence of complex geodesics such that $\varphi_j(1) = p$ for all j. Suppose that for every neighborhood U of p there exists j_U such that $\varphi_j(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) \subset U$ for all $j > j_U$. Then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\langle \varphi_j(\zeta) - p, \nu_p \rangle}{|\varphi_j(\zeta) - p|} = 0,$$

uniformly in $\zeta \in \mathbb{D}$.

Proof. Let $\{e_j\}_{j=1,\dots,n}$ denote the canonical base of \mathbb{C}^n . Up to local holomorphic change of coordinate we may assume that $p=0, \nu_p=e_n$ and that a defining function of ∂D near the origin is of the form $Re(z_n)+h(z_1,\dots,z_{n-1},\operatorname{Im} z_n)$, where h is a smooth function which is

zero up to the first order at 0. Let

$$\delta_j := \max\{|\varphi_j(\zeta)| : \zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}\}.$$

Note that, by hypothesis, $\delta_i \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$.

In the proof of his Theorem 2 (see [22, pag. 409 penultimate displayed formula]), Huang shows that there exist j_0 and a sequence $\{\gamma_j\} \subset \mathbb{C}^{n-1} \setminus \{0\}$ such that, writing $\frac{\gamma_j}{|\gamma_j|} := (a_{1,j}, \dots, a_{n-1,j})$, the following equality holds uniformly with respect to $\zeta \in \mathbb{D}$, for $j \geq j_0$:

(4.2)
$$\frac{\varphi_j'(\zeta)}{|\gamma_j|} = -(a_{n-1,j}, a_{n-2,j}, \dots, a_{1,j}, 0) + O(\delta_j).$$

Now, fix $\xi \in \mathbb{D}$, and $0 \le t \le 1$ and let $\zeta = t\xi + (1 - t)$. Multiplying by $(\xi - 1)$ and integrating (4.2) in t between 0 and 1, bearing in mind that $\varphi_j(1) = 0$, we obtain

$$\frac{\langle \varphi_j(\xi), e_n \rangle}{|\gamma_j|} = O(\delta_j)(\xi - 1)$$

and

$$\frac{\varphi_j(\xi)}{|\gamma_j|} = \left[-(a_{n-1,j}, a_{n-2,j}, \dots, a_{1,j}, 0) + O(\delta_j) \right] (\xi - 1).$$

Hence,

$$\frac{|\langle \varphi_j(\xi), e_n \rangle|}{|\varphi_j(\xi)|} = \frac{O(\delta_j)}{1 + O(\delta_j)},$$

and the statement follows.

4.2. **Defining couples adapted to a complex geodesic.** Now, fix a point $p \in \partial K$. Let $\varphi_0 : \mathbb{D} \to K$ be a complex geodesic such that $\varphi_0(1) = p$, and $v_0 := \varphi_0'(1)$. Let $\rho : K \to \varphi_0(\mathbb{D})$ be the associated Lempert projection and $\tilde{\rho}$ the left-inverse of φ_0 . Let Φ be the Lempert special coordinates adapted to φ_0 such that $\varphi_S(\zeta) := \Phi(\varphi_0(\zeta)) = (\zeta, 0, \dots, 0), \ \zeta \in \mathbb{D}$ and $\Phi(p) = e_1 := (1, 0, \dots, 0)$. Note that $d\Phi_p(v_0) = (\Phi \circ \varphi_0)'(1) = e_1$.

Let $K' := \Phi(K)$. Note that $d(\rho_S)_{e_1}(z) = (z_1, 0, \dots, 0)$, hence, the left-inverse $\tilde{\rho}_S := \varphi_S^{-1} \circ \rho_S$ satisfies $\tilde{\rho}_S(z) = z_1$. Therefore,

$$T_{e_1}^{\mathbb{C}} \partial K' = \ker d(\tilde{\rho}_S)_{e_1}, \quad T_{e_1} \partial K' = \ker \operatorname{Re} d(\tilde{\rho}_S)_{e_1}.$$

Since $d\Phi_p$ maps $T_p^{\mathbb{C}}\partial K$ onto $T_{e_1}^{\mathbb{C}}\partial K'$ and $T_p\partial K'$ onto $T_{e_1}\partial K'$, taking into account that $\tilde{\rho}=\tilde{\rho}_S\circ\Phi$, we see that

(4.3)
$$T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial K = \ker d\tilde{\rho}_p, \quad T_p \partial K = \ker \operatorname{Re} d\tilde{\rho}_p.$$
$$\theta : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}, \quad \theta(v) := d\tilde{\rho}_p(v).$$

Let $\alpha := \operatorname{Im} \theta|_{T_p \partial K}$. Then, by (4.3), $\ker \alpha = T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial K$. Therefore, (α, θ) is a defining couple of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial K$.

Definition 4.4. The couple (α, θ) defined above is the defining couple adapted to φ_0 .

Thus we can define the pluricomplex Poisson kernel $\Omega_{K,p}^{\alpha}$. Now, let $\varphi : \mathbb{D} \to K$ be another complex geodesic such that $\varphi(1) = p$. By Hopf's Lemma, $\varphi'(1) \notin T_p \partial K$. Hence,

(4.4)
$$\lim_{r \to 1^{-}} \Omega_{K,p}^{\alpha}(\varphi(r))(1-r) = -2\operatorname{Re} \frac{1}{\theta(\varphi'(1))} = -2\operatorname{Re} \frac{1}{d\tilde{\rho}_{p}(\varphi'(1))}.$$

By Proposition 2.6, there exists a constant m>0 such that $\Omega_{K,p}^{\alpha}=m\Omega_{K,p}$, where $\Omega_{K,p}$ is the pluricomplex Poisson kernel constructed in [13, 14]—and it is, in fact, the pluricomplex Poisson kernel associated to the linear form $T_p\partial K\ni v\mapsto \langle v,\nu_p\rangle$, where ν_p is the outer unit normal vector to ∂K at p.

By construction (see [14, (1.2)]) $\Omega_{K,p}$ restricted to the complex geodesics whose closure contain p is a multiple of the Poisson kernel $P_{\mathbb{D}}$. Thus, by the Phragmén-Lindelöf theorem in \mathbb{D} ,

$$\Omega_{K,p}^{\alpha}(\varphi(\zeta)) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{1}{d\tilde{\rho}_{p}(\varphi'(1))}\right) P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta).$$

- 4.3. Entrapping strongly pseudoconvex domains between strongly convex domains. Assume that $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is a bounded, strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$. By [11, Thm. 2.6] there exist a biholomorphism $\Phi: D \to \Phi(D)$, which extends as a smooth diffeomorphism on the boundary, a bounded strongly convex domain $W \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ with smooth boundary, and an open neighborhood U of $\Phi(p)$ such that $\Phi(D) \subset W$ and $U \cap W = U \cap \Phi(D)$. Moreover, it is clear that we find a smooth bounded strongly convex domain $B \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ such that $B \subset \Phi(D)$ and $B \cap U = \Phi(D) \cap U$. Therefore, up to considering $\Phi(D)$ instead of D, we assume that
 - (H1) There exist two bounded strongly convex domains $B, W \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ with smooth boundary and an open neighborhood U of p such that $B \subset D \subset W$ and $U \cap D = U \cap W = U \cap B$.

Note that

$$A := T_p \partial D = T_p \partial W = T_p \partial B$$

and that

$$A^{\mathbb{C}} := T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D = T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial W = T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial B.$$

The following lemma follows the ideas in [11, Proof of Thm. 2.6] and it is based on a "preservation of geodesics" result by X. Huang [23, Corollary 1]. For a vector $v \in \mathbb{C}^n$ we let v^T the orthogonal projection onto $A^{\mathbb{C}}$ and $v^N = v - v^T$.

Lemma 4.5. There exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that if $v \in A \setminus A^{\mathbb{C}}$, is such that $|v^N| < \epsilon |v^T|$ then any complex geodesic $\varphi : \mathbb{D} \to W$ such that $\varphi(1) = p$ and $\varphi'(1) = \lambda v$ for some $\lambda \neq 0$ is a complex geodesic—that is, an isometry for both the Kobayashi distance and Kobayashi metric—also for D and for B. Moreover, if $\rho : W \to \varphi(\mathbb{D})$ is the Lempert projection associated to φ (as a complex geodesic in W), then $\rho|_B$ is the Lempert projection associated to φ (as a complex geodesic in B). Also, $\rho|_D$ is a holomorphic retraction of D onto $\varphi(\mathbb{D})$ with affine fibers.

Proof. Let U' be an open neighborhood of p such that $\overline{U'} \subset U$. By [23, Corollary 1], there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that if $v \in A \setminus A^{\mathbb{C}}$, is such that $|v^N| < \epsilon |v^T|$ then any complex geodesic $\varphi : \mathbb{D} \to W$ such that $\varphi(1) = p$ and $\varphi'(1) = \lambda v$ for some $\lambda \neq 0$ is such that $\varphi(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) \subset U'$. Let $\rho : W \to \varphi(\mathbb{D})$ be the associated Lempert projection. Then $\rho(W) = \varphi(\mathbb{D}) \subset U' \subset B \subset D$. Hence, $\varphi(\mathbb{D})$ is a holomorphic retract of B and of D. Since it is well known that that one-dimensional holomorphic retracts of strongly convex domains are complex geodesics, φ is a complex geodesic in B. By the same token, or by the monotonicity property of the Kobayashi distance, it follows that φ is an isometry for both the Kobayashi metric and the Kobayashi distance of D as well. Finally, since the fibers of $\rho|_B$ are affine, by [14, Proposition 3.3], it is the Lempert projection associated to φ as a complex geodesic in B.

Definition 4.6. Let $v \in A \setminus A^{\mathbb{C}}$ be a vector. We say that v_0 is *compatible* if $|v^N| < \epsilon |v^T|$, where $\epsilon > 0$ is given by Lemma 4.5.

A holomorphic map $\varphi: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{C}^n$, which extends smoothly on $\partial \mathbb{D}$ and is a complex geodesic (that is, an isometry for both the Kobayashi distance and the Kobayashi metric) in either B,D or W and such that $\varphi(1)=p$ and $\varphi'(1)$ is compatible at p, is a compatible complex geodesic.

The defining couple of $A^{\mathbb{C}}$ associated to φ is called a *compatible defining couple*.

The definition of compatible complex geodesics needs a couple of comments. Holomorphic discs which are isometries for the Kobayashi metric are usually called "infinitesimal complex geodesics". In bounded convex domains, complex geodesics and infinitesimal complex geodesics are one and the same. In other domains, it is not known. However, for the aim of this paper, it is convenient to call "complex geodesic" any holomorphic disc which is both an isometry for the Kobayashi metric and for the Kobayashi distance.

Also, every complex geodesic in B and W extends smoothly on the boundary. However, this is not granted for complex geodesics in D, but it is part of the definition of "compatibility".

The following lemma explains why we choose to use a unified terminology for B, W and D:

Lemma 4.7. A holomorphic map $\varphi : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{C}^n$ is a compatible complex geodesic in B if and only if it is a a compatible complex geodesic in D if and only if it is a a compatible complex geodesic in W. In particular, every compatible complex geodesic in D is the image of a holomorphic retract of D with affine fibers.

Proof. By Lemma 4.5, if φ is a compatible complex geodesic in W, then it is a compatible complex geodesic in B and D (and it is the image of a holomorphic retract of D with affine fibers).

If φ is compatible in B, let $\eta:\mathbb{D}\to W$ be the complex geodesic in W such that $\eta(1)=1$ and $\eta'(1)=\lambda\varphi'(1)$ for some $\lambda\neq 0$. Then, η is compatible in W, hence, by Lemma 4.5, it is also a complex geodesic in B (and in D) and, by the uniqueness up to re-parametrization of complex geodesics in strongly convex domains, it follows that $\varphi=\eta\circ h$ for a suitable automorphism h of $\mathbb D$ such that h(1)=1. Hence, φ is a compatible complex geodesic in W and D as well.

Finally, if φ is a compatible complex geodesic in D, by definition it is also an infinitesimal complex geodesic and, being smooth up to the boundary, the hypothesis in Huang's preservation

principle [23, Corollary 1] is satisfied. Therefore, $\varphi(\mathbb{D}) \subset U'$ (where U' is defined in the proof of Lemma 4.5). In particular, $\varphi(\mathbb{D}) \subset B$. By the monotonicity of the Kobayashi distance, it follows that φ is a (compatible) complex geodesic of B as well, and, for what we already proved, for W.

In the sequel we let $\varphi_0: \mathbb{D} \to B$ be a complex geodesic such that $\varphi_0(1) = p$ and $v_0 := \varphi_0'(1)$ is a compatible vector, that is, φ_0 is a compatible complex geodesic. Let ρ be Lempert projection associated with φ_0 in W. By Lemma 4.5, $\rho|_B$ is the Lempert projection of φ_0 as complex geodesic in B, hence, $\tilde{\rho} := \varphi^{-1} \circ \rho$ is the left-inverse of φ_0 (in both B and W).

Let $\theta := d\tilde{\rho}_p$ and let $\alpha := \operatorname{Im} \theta|_A$. Then (α, θ) is a compatible defining couple of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$. For all $z \in B$,

(4.6)
$$\Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha}(z) \le \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(z) \le \Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z).$$

As a corollary of the previous inequalities we generalize [14, Corollary 5.3]:

Proposition 4.8. Let $\{z_n\} \subset D$ be a sequence converging to p and assume that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{p-z_n}{|p-z_n|} = v \notin A^{\mathbb{C}}$. Then

(4.7)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Omega_{M,p}^{\alpha}(z_n) |\langle p - z_n, \nu_p \rangle| = -2 \operatorname{Re} \left(\frac{1}{\theta(\nu_p)} \right) \frac{\operatorname{Re} \langle v, \nu_p \rangle}{|\langle v, \nu_p \rangle|},$$

where M = B, D, W and ν_p is the outer unit normal vector of M at p.

Proof. In view of (4.6), it is enough to prove the formula for B and W. We prove it for B, being the proof exactly the same for W.

For each n let φ_n be a CHL complex geodesic (see Definition 4.2) such that $\varphi_n(1) = p$ and $\varphi_n(\zeta_n) = z_n$ for some $\zeta_n \in \mathbb{D}$. Up to subsequences, we can assume that $\beta = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1-\zeta_n}{|1-\zeta_n|}$ exists.

Up to extracting further subsequences, we may also assume that $\{\varphi_n\}$ converges uniformly on compacta to a holomorphic map $\varphi: \mathbb{D} \to \overline{B}$. Moreover, since B is strongly (pseudo)convex, then, either $\varphi(\mathbb{D}) \subset B$ or there exists a point $q \in \partial B$ such that $\varphi(\mathbb{D}) = q$. In the latter case, since $z_n \in \varphi_n(\mathbb{D})$ and $z_n \to p$, by [11, Prop. 2.3], it follows that q = p and that for every neighborhood Q of p there exists n_Q such that $\varphi_n(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) \subset Q$ for all $n > n_Q$. Hence, by Lemma 4.3,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\langle z_n - p, \nu_p \rangle}{|z_n - p|} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\langle \varphi_n(\zeta_n) - p, \nu_p \rangle}{|\varphi_n(\zeta_n) - p|} = 0,$$

which implies $v \in A^{\mathbb{C}}$, a contradiction. Therefore, $\varphi(\mathbb{D}) \subset B$.

Now, since the φ_n 's are isometries between the hyperbolic distance in \mathbb{D} and the Kobayashi distance in B, then φ is a complex geodesic in B and by [23, Prop. 1] (see also [14, Section 2]), $\{\varphi_n\}$ converges in the C^1 -topology on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ to φ .

Write $(\varphi_n)'(1) = \langle v_n, \nu_p \rangle v_n$ for some $v_n \in L_p$. In particular notice that, since $\langle v_n, \nu_p \rangle > 0$ by definition, we have $\text{Re}\,\langle (\varphi_n)'(1), \nu_p \rangle = \langle (\varphi_n)'(1), \nu_p \rangle > 0$ for all n. Since by Hopf's Lemma, $\text{Re}\,\langle \varphi'(1), \nu_p \rangle \neq 0$, it follows easily from the previous considerations that φ is CHL and hence

 $\varphi'(1) = \langle \tilde{v}, \nu_p \rangle \tilde{v}$ for some $\tilde{v} \in L_p$ so that $\lim_{n \to \infty} v_n = \tilde{v}$. By (4.5), recalling that $\theta = d\tilde{\rho}_p$ where $\tilde{\rho}$ is the left-inverse of the chosen compatible geodesic φ_0 ,

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z_n)|\langle p-z_n,\nu_p\rangle| &= \Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(\varphi_n(\zeta_n))|\langle p-z_n,\nu_p\rangle| \\ &= -\mathrm{Re}\,\left(\frac{1}{\theta(\varphi_n'(1))}\right)\mathrm{Re}\,\left(\frac{(1+\zeta_n)|1-\zeta_n|}{1-\zeta_n}\right)\left|\langle\frac{p-z_n}{1-\zeta_n},\nu_p\rangle\right|. \end{split}$$

By the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus,

$$\frac{p-z_n}{1-\zeta_n} = \frac{\varphi_n(1)-\varphi_n(\zeta_n)}{1-\zeta_n} = \int_0^1 (\varphi_n)'((1-\zeta_n)t+\zeta_n)dt,$$

and, since the integrand converges uniformly to $\varphi'(1)$, and taking into account that $\theta(\varphi'(1)) = (\langle \tilde{v}, \nu_p \rangle)^2 \theta(\nu_p)$ —since $\theta|_{A^{\mathbb{C}}} = 0$, the previous equation implies that

(4.8)
$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z_n) |\langle p-z_n,\nu_p\rangle| = -2 \operatorname{Re} \left(\frac{1}{\theta(\nu_p)}\right) \operatorname{Re} \beta.$$

On the other hand,

$$\langle v, \nu_p \rangle = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\frac{1 - \zeta_n}{|1 - \zeta_n|} \frac{|1 - \zeta_n|}{|\varphi_n(1) - \varphi_n(\zeta_n)|} \left\langle \frac{\varphi_n(1) - \varphi_n(\zeta_n)}{1 - \zeta_n}, \nu_p \right\rangle \right] = \beta \langle \tilde{v}, \nu_p \rangle.$$

Putting together (4.8) and the previous formula, one easily sees that (4.7) holds.

Lemma 4.9. Let $\{z_n\} \subset B$ be a sequence converging to p such that $v := \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{p-z_n}{|p-z_n|}$ exists. If either $v \in A^{\mathbb{C}}$ or $|v^N| < \frac{\epsilon}{2} |v^T|$, where $\epsilon > 0$ is given by Lemma 4.5, then there exists n_0 such that for all $n > n_0$

$$\frac{\Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha}(z_n)}{\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z_n)} = 1.$$

In particular, for all $n > n_0$,

$$\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(z_n) = \Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z_n) = \Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha}(z_n).$$

Proof. It is clear that the second equation follows at once from the first one and from (4.6). In order to prove the first equation, let $\{z_n\} \subset B$ be a sequence converging to p. By hypothesis, the complex geodesic $\varphi_n : \mathbb{D} \to B$ such that $\varphi_n(1) = p$ and $\varphi_n(0) = z_n$ eventually satisfies $|[\varphi'_n(0)]^N| \le \epsilon |[\varphi'_n(0)]^T|$. Therefore, φ_n is a complex geodesic for both B and W eventually by Lemma 4.5. Thus, by (4.5), $\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(\varphi_n(\zeta)) = \Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha}(\varphi_n(\zeta))$ for n large, and for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{D}$, and we are done.

The argument used in the previous proof allows us to prove:

Proposition 4.10. For all compatible complex geodesics φ and $\zeta \in \mathbb{D}$,

(4.9)
$$\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(\varphi(\zeta)) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{1}{\theta(\varphi'(1))}\right) P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta).$$

In particular, there exists an open set J whose closure contains p such that $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}$ is C^{∞} -smooth on J, $(dd^c\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha})^{n-1} \neq 0$ on J and the associated Monge-Ampére foliation on J is formed by complex geodesics for D, which extend smoothly up to the boundary of \mathbb{D} , and have an associated holomorphic retraction with affine fibers.

Proof. The first statement follows at once from the previous proof and equations (4.6) and (4.5). The set $G:=\{v\in L_p:|v^N|<\frac{\epsilon}{2}|v^T|\}$, is open in L_p (see (4.1)). The map $G\times\mathbb{D}\ni(v,\zeta)\mapsto \varphi_v(\zeta)$ is a homeomorphism onto its image, which is thus an open set J (see [14, Corollary 2.3]). Hence, by (4.5) and (4.9), we have $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(z)=\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z)$ for all $z\in J$ and we are done. \square

Proposition 4.11. *The following hold:*

$$\lim_{z \to p} \frac{\Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha}(z)}{\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z)} = 1.$$

In particular,

$$\lim_{z \to p} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(z)}{\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z)} = \limsup_{z \to p} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(z)}{\Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha}(z)} = 1.$$

Proof. Again, the second formula follows immediately from the first one and from (4.6). By Lemma 4.9, we are left to consider sequences $\{z_n\} \subset B$ such that $\frac{p-z_n}{|p-z_n|} \to v$ with either $v \notin A$ or $v \in A \setminus A^{\mathbb{C}}$.

Case $v \notin A$. By (4.8), and taking into account that Re $\langle v, \nu_p \rangle > 0$ (since $v \notin A$), we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{\Omega_{B,p}^\alpha(z_n)}{\Omega_{W,p}^\alpha(z_n)}=\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{\Omega_{B,p}^\alpha(z_n)}{\Omega_{W,p}^\alpha(z_n)}\frac{|\langle p-z_n,\nu_p\rangle|}{|\langle p-z_n,\nu_p\rangle|}=1,$$

and we are done.

Case $v \in A \setminus A^{\mathbb{C}}$. Let $\{z_n\} \subset B$ be such that $\frac{p-z_n}{|p-z_n|} \to v$ with $v \in A \setminus A^{\mathbb{C}}$.

Let $\varphi_n^B:\mathbb{D}\to B$ be the CHL complex geodesic in B such that $\varphi_n^B(1)=p$ and $\varphi_n^B(\zeta_n^B)=z_n$ for some $\zeta_n^B\in\mathbb{D}$ and similarly let $\varphi_n^W:\mathbb{D}\to W$ be the CHL complex geodesic in W such that $\varphi_n^W(1)=p$ and $\varphi_n^W(\zeta_n^W)=z_n$ for some $\zeta_n^W\in\mathbb{D}$.

Up to extracting subsequences, we may assume that $\{\varphi_n^B\}$ converges uniformly on compacta to a holomorphic map $\varphi^B:\mathbb{D}\to\overline{B}$ and $\{\varphi_n^W\}$ converges uniformly on compacta to a holomorphic map $\varphi^W:\mathbb{D}\to\overline{W}$. Arguing as in the proof of Proposition 4.8, one can see that φ^B and φ^W are CHL complex geodesics and $\{(\varphi_n^B)\}$ converges to φ^B while $\{(\varphi_n^W)\}$ converges to φ^W in the C^1 -topology on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$.

In particular, we can write $(\varphi^B)'(1) = \langle v^B, \nu_p \rangle v^B$ and $(\varphi^W)'(1) = \langle v^W, \nu_p \rangle v^W$ for some $v^B, v^W \in L_p$.

Using the Chang-Hu-Lee spherical representation [15] (see also [14, Section 1]), it is easy to see that $\lim_{n\to\infty}\zeta_n^B=\lim_{n\to\infty}\zeta_n^W=1$. By the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus,

$$\frac{p - z_n}{|p - z_n|} = \frac{1 - \zeta_n^B}{|p - z_n|} \int_0^1 (\varphi_n^B)'((1 - \zeta_n^B)t + \zeta_n^B)dt.$$

Since the integrand converges uniformly in n to $(\varphi^B)'(1) = \langle v^B, \nu_p \rangle v^B$ and the left hand side converges to v, it follows that $\frac{1-\zeta_n^B}{|p-z_n|}$ converges to some $\lambda^B \neq 0$, as $n \to \infty$. A similar argument for φ_n^W shows that

$$\lambda^B \langle v^B, \nu_p \rangle v^B = v = \lambda^W \langle v^W, \nu_p \rangle v^W.$$

Bearing in mind that $v^B, v^W \in L_p$, this implies immediately that $v^B = v^W$.

In particular, $\varphi^B(1) = \varphi^W(1) = p$ and $(\varphi^B)'(1) = (\varphi^W)'(1)$. By (4.5) and (4.6), we have

(4.10)
$$1 \le \frac{\Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha}(z_n)}{\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha}(z_n)} = \frac{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_n^W)}{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_n^B)}.$$

Let $\tilde{\rho}_n^B$ be the left-inverse of φ_n^B . By [14, Lemma 3.5], $\{\tilde{\rho}_n^B\}$ converges in the C^1 -topology on \overline{B} to the left-inverse $\tilde{\rho}^B$ of φ^B .

Since B and W have common boundary near p, there exists $r \in (0,1)$ so that $Q := \mathbb{D} \cap \{\zeta \in \mathbb{C} : |\zeta - 1| < r\} \subset (\varphi_n^W)^{-1}(B \cap \varphi_n^W(\mathbb{D}))$ for all n. We can assume that $\zeta_n^W \in Q$ for all n. Let $g : \mathbb{D} \to Q$ be a Riemann map. Note that since $\partial Q = \partial \mathbb{D}$ near 1, we can assume that g extends holomorphically through $\partial \mathbb{D}$ near 1, g(1) = 1 and (up to pre-composing g with a hyperbolic automorphism of \mathbb{D} fixing 1) that g'(1) = 1. Let $\tilde{\zeta}_n^W := g^{-1}(\zeta_n^W)$. Note that $\tilde{\zeta}_n^W \to 1$ as $n \to \infty$. Let $f_n := \tilde{\rho}_n^B \circ \varphi_n^W \circ g : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{D}$.

By construction, f_n is smooth up to $\partial \mathbb{D}$ close to 1, $f_n(1) = 1$ and $f_n(\tilde{\zeta}_n^W) = \zeta_n^B$. By the classical Julia's Lemma and the classical Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory Theorem (see, e.g., [1, Thm. 1.2.5 and Thm. 1.2.7] or [10, Thm. 1.7.3 and Lemma 1.4.5]), $f'_n(1) > 0$ and for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{D}$,

(4.11)
$$\frac{|1 - f_n(\zeta)|^2}{1 - |f_n(\zeta)|^2} \le f'_n(1) \frac{|1 - \zeta|^2}{1 - |\zeta|^2}.$$

Moreover, $\{f_n\}$ converges in the C^1 -topology on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ to $f:=\tilde{\rho}^B\circ\varphi^W\circ g$. Note that $f'(1)=d\tilde{\rho}_p^B((\varphi^W)'(1))g'(1)=d\tilde{\rho}_p^B((\varphi^B)'(1))=1$. Hence, by (4.11),

$$\frac{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_{n}^{W})}{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_{n}^{B})} = \frac{P_{\mathbb{D}}(g(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W}))}{P_{\mathbb{D}}(f_{n}(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W}))} = \frac{1 - |g(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W})|^{2}}{|1 - g(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W})|^{2}} \frac{|1 - \tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W}|^{2}}{1 - |\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W}|^{2}} \frac{|1 - f_{n}(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W})|^{2}}{1 - |f_{n}(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W})|^{2}} \\
\leq f'_{n}(1) \frac{1 - |g(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W})|^{2}}{|1 - g(\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W})|^{2}} \frac{|1 - \tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W}|^{2}}{1 - |\tilde{\zeta}_{n}^{W}|^{2}}.$$

Therefore, since $f'_n(1) \to f'(1) = 1$ as $n \to \infty$,

$$\limsup_{n\to\infty} \frac{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_n^W)}{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_n^B)} \le \limsup_{n\to\infty} \frac{1-|g(\tilde{\zeta}_n^W)|^2}{|1-g(\tilde{\zeta}_n^W)|^2} \frac{|1-\tilde{\zeta}_n^W|^2}{1-|\tilde{\zeta}_n^W|^2}.$$

Since g extends holomorphically near 1 and g'(1) = 1, we see that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|1 - \tilde{\zeta}_n^W|^2}{|1 - g(\tilde{\zeta}_n^W)|^2} = 1.$$

On the other hand, in order to compute $\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{1-|g(\tilde{\zeta}_n^W)|^2}{1-|\tilde{\zeta}_n^W|^2}$, we use the Cayley transform $C:\{w\in\mathbb{C}: \operatorname{Re}w>0\}\to\mathbb{D}$ defined as $C(w)=\frac{1-w}{1+w}$. Let $w_n:=C^{-1}(\zeta_n^W)$. Then $\{w_n\}$ converges to 0. Let $\tilde{g} := C^{-1} \circ g \circ C$. The map \tilde{g} is well defined and holomorphic near 0, $\tilde{g}(0) = 0$, Re $\tilde{g}(iy) = 0$ for $y \in \mathbb{R}$ close to 0 and $\tilde{g}'(0) = 1$. Hence, Re $\tilde{g}(w) = (\text{Re } w)a(w)$ for w close to 0, where a(w) is a real analytic function such that a(0) = 1.

Since $1 - |C(w)|^2 = \frac{4}{|1+w|^2} \operatorname{Re} w$, it follows that

$$\frac{1-|g(\tilde{\zeta}_n^W)|^2}{1-|\tilde{\zeta}_n^W|^2} = \frac{|1+w_n|^2}{|1+\tilde{g}(w_n)|^2} \frac{\operatorname{Re} \tilde{g}(w_n)}{\operatorname{Re} w_n} = \frac{|1+w_n|^2}{|1+\tilde{g}(w_n)|^2} a(w_n),$$

hence, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1-|g(\tilde{\zeta}_n^W)|^2}{1-|\tilde{\zeta}_n^W|^2}=1.$ Therefore, $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \frac{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_n^W)}{P_{\mathbb{D}}(\zeta_n^B)}\leq 1$ and, by (4.10), we are done.

5. Julia's Lemma for strongly pseudoconvex domains in Stein manifolds

Definition 5.1. Let M be a Stein manifold and let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and let (α, θ) be a defining couple for $T_n^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$. The horoball of center p and radius R > 0 is

$$H_{\alpha}^{D}(p,R) := \{ z \in D : \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(z) < -1/R \}.$$

By Proposition 2.6, horoballs are independent of the defining couple (α, θ) , in the sense that, if (α', θ') is another defining couple, there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $H^D_{\alpha}(p, R) = H^D_{\alpha'}(p, \lambda R)$ for all R > 0.

Note that $H^D_{\alpha}(p,R)$ is an open subset of D and that $\overline{H^D_{\alpha}(p,R)} \cap \partial D = \{p\}$ for all R > 0.

Definition 5.2. Let $D \subset\subset M$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. A sequence $\{z_n\}\subset D$ is an E_p -sequence if $\{z_n\}$ converges to $p\in\partial D$ and it is eventually contained in any horoball at p for some—and hence any—defining couple for $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$.

Note that every sequence $\{z_n\}\subset D$ which converges non-tangentially to $p\in\partial D$ is an E_p sequence. Indeed, choosing local coordinates around p, one can find a ball $\mathbb{B}_r \subset D$ which is tangent to ∂D at p. If $\{z_n\}$ converges non tangentially to p then $\{z_n\}$ is eventually contained in \mathbb{B}_r and converges to p non-tangentially in \mathbb{B}_r as well. Hence, $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha}(z_n) \leq \Omega_{\mathbb{B}_r,p}^{\alpha}(z_n) \to -\infty$ as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem 5.3. Let M, M' be Stein manifolds. Let $D \subset\subset M$ and $D' \subset\subset M'$ be a strongly pseudoconvex domains with smooth boundary. Let $f: D \to D'$ be holomorphic. For every $p \in \partial D$ fix a defining couple (α_p, θ_p) of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$, and similarly for every $q \in \partial D'$ fix a defining couple (α'_p, θ'_p) of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D'$. For $p \in \partial D$ and $q \in \partial D'$, let

$$\lambda_{p,q} := \sup_{z \in D} \left\{ \frac{\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z)}{\Omega_{D',q}^{\alpha'_q}(f(z))} \right\}.$$

Suppose there exists $p \in \partial D$ such that

$$\lambda_p := \inf_{q \in \partial D'} \lambda_{p,q} < +\infty.$$

Then there exists a unique $q \in \partial D'$ such that $\lambda_{p,q} < +\infty$ and $\lambda_p = \lambda_{p,q}$. Moreover, for every E_p -sequence $\{z_n\}$, the sequence $\{f(z_n)\}$ is an E_q -sequence—in particular, f has nontangential-limit q at p—and for all R > 0

$$f(H_{\alpha_p}^D(p,R)) \subseteq H_{\alpha_q'}^{D'}(q,\lambda_p R).$$

Proof. In order to avoid burdening notations, we omit to write α_p, α'_q . By hypothesis, there exists $q \in \partial D'$ such that

$$\lambda_{p,q} := \sup_{z \in D} \left\{ \frac{\Omega_{D,p}(z)}{\Omega_{D',q}(f(z))} \right\} < +\infty.$$

Let $\{z_n\} \subset D$ be an E_p -sequence. Hence $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Omega_{D,p}(z_n) = -\infty$ and since $\lambda_{p,q} < +\infty$, it follows immediately that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Omega_{D',q}(f(z_n)) = -\infty$. Thus $\lim_{n\to\infty} f(z_n) = q$ and $\{f(z_n)\}$ is eventually contained in any horoball of D' at q.

Finally, if it were $\lambda_{p,q'} < +\infty$ for some other $q' \in \partial D' \setminus \{q\}$, arguing as before it would follows that $\{f(z_n)\}$ is both an E_q -sequence and an $E_{q'}$ -sequence for every E_p -sequence $\{z_n\}$, a contradiction.

It is interesting to note that the condition $\lambda_p < +\infty$ in the previous theorem is, in fact, a local condition at p along non-tangential directions:

Proposition 5.4. Let M, M' be Stein manifolds. Let $D \subset\subset M$ (respectively $D' \subset\subset M'$) be a strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $f: D \to D'$ be holomorphic. Then $\lambda_p < +\infty$ if and only if there exist C > 0 and $q \in \partial D'$ such that for all sequences $\{z_n\}$ converging non-tangentially to p,

(5.1)
$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z_n)}{\Omega_{D',q}^{\alpha'_q}(f(z_n))} \le C.$$

Moreover, $\lambda_p \leq C$.

Proof. Suppose (5.1) holds. Let $u(z) := C\Omega_{D',q}^{\alpha'_q}(f(z))$. Note that u is plurisubharmonic and u < 0 in D. Moreover, let $\gamma : [0,1] \to D \cup \{p\}$ be a smooth curve such that $\gamma(t) \in D$ for $t \in [0,1), \gamma(1) = p$ and $\gamma'(1) \not\in T_p \partial D$. Then

$$\limsup_{t\to 1^-} u(\gamma(t))(1-t) \leq \limsup_{t\to 1^-} \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(\gamma(t))(1-t) = -2\mathsf{Re}\,[\theta_p(\gamma'(1)]^{-1}.$$

Therefore, $u(z) \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$ and hence, $u(z) \leq \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z)$ for all $z \in D$.

6. An intrinsic Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory Theorem for strongly PSEUDOCONVEX DOMAINS IN \mathbb{C}^n

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded, strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary.

For each $p \in \partial D$, we can globally change coordinates so that assumption (H1) in Subsection 4.3 holds. So, for each $p \in \partial D$ we can select a compatible complex geodesic φ_p^D : $\mathbb{D} \to D$ such that $\varphi_p^D(1) = p$ and $v_p^D := (\varphi_p^D)'(1)$. We let ρ_p^D be the associated Lempert's projection and $\tilde{\rho}_p^D$ the left-inverse of φ_p^D . We have thus the (compatible) defining couple $(\operatorname{Im}(d\tilde{\rho}_{n}^{D})_{p}|_{T_{n}\partial D}, (d\tilde{\rho}_{n}^{D})_{p}).$

Theorem 6.1. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $D' \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ be bounded, strongly pseudoconvex domains with smooth boundary. For each $p \in \partial D$ (respectively, $q \in \partial D'$) let (α_p, θ_p) (respect., (α'_p, θ'_p)) be a compatible defining couple of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}}\partial D$ (respect., $T_q^{\mathbb{C}}\partial D'$). Let $f:D\to D'$ be holomorphic. Suppose

(6.1)
$$\lambda_p := \inf_{q \in \partial D'} \sup_{z \in D} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z)}{\Omega_{D',q}^{\alpha'_q}(f(z))} < +\infty.$$

Then there exists a unique point $q \in \partial D'$ such that f has non-tangential limit q at p, the following maps are bounded on every cone in D with vertex at p:

- (1) $d(\tilde{\rho}_q^{D'} \circ f)_z(v_p^D)$,
- (2) $|1 \tilde{\rho}_p^D(z)|^{1/2} d(f \rho_q^{D'} \circ f)_z(v_p^D),$ (3) $|1 \tilde{\rho}_p^D(z)|^{-1/2} d(\tilde{\rho}_q^{D'} \circ f)_z(\tau_p),$
- (4) $d(f \rho_a^{D'} \circ f)_z(\tau_p),$

where τ_p denotes any complex tangent vector to ∂D at p. Moreover, the map (1) has nontangential limit λ_p and the maps (2) and (3) have non-tangential limit 0 at p.

Remark 6.2. Using Abate's "projection devices" [2, 3], one can replace the "non-tangential approach" in the statement with the bigger class of restricted K-limits. However, we are not going to develop this argument in this paper.

Proof. By Theorem 5.3, there exists a (unique) point q such that

$$\lambda_p = \sup_{z \in D} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z)}{\Omega_{D',q}^{\alpha'_q}(f(z))},$$

and f has non-tangential limit q at p.

As in Subsection 4.3 we can and we will assume that (H1) holds for D at p and D' at q (and we denote by $B' \subset D' \subset W'$ the two strongly convex domains entrapping D'). It is easy to see that this assumption does not change the statements.

In order to avoid burdening notations, we write Ω_X instead of $\Omega_{X,n}^{\alpha_p}$, for X=B,D and Ω_X instead of $\Omega_{X,q}^{\alpha_q'}$ for X = D', W'.

Then we define $g := f|_B : B \to W'$. By (4.6) and (6.1), we have

$$\Omega_{W'}(g(z)) \le \Omega_{D'}(f|_B(z)) \le \frac{1}{\lambda_p}\Omega_D(z) \le \frac{1}{\lambda_p}\Omega_B(z).$$

Let

$$\tilde{\lambda}_p := \sup_{z \in B} \frac{\Omega_B(z)}{\Omega_{W'}(g(z))}.$$

Hence, $\tilde{\lambda}_p \leq \lambda_p$. Choose now $z_0 = \varphi_p^D(0)$ and $z_0' = \varphi_q^{D'}(0)$. By [9, Proposition 2.3] (actually, that proposition is proved for self-maps of the same domain, but it is easy to see that the proof adapts to holomorphic maps between different bounded, strongly convex domains with smooth boundary)

$$\frac{1}{2}\log \tilde{\lambda}_p = \liminf_{z \to p} [k_B(z, z_0) - k_{W'}(f(z), z_0')],$$

where k_M denotes the Kobayashi distance of a domain M. Hence, we can apply Abate's Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory's theorem for strongly convex domains (see [2, Thm. 0.8] and [3, Thm. 2.1]), and we have that the maps (1)—(4) are bounded in any cone in B with vertex at p. Since B and D are tangent at p, the same statement follows in D. Moreover, (2) and (3) have non-tangential limit 0 at p. And (1) has non-tangential limit $\tilde{\lambda}_p$.

We are left to show that $\tilde{\lambda}_p = \lambda_p$.

By Proposition 5.4, for every 0 < a < 1 there exists a smooth curve $\gamma: [0,1] \to D \cup \{p\}$ converging to p such that $\gamma'(1) \not\in T_p \partial D$ and $\liminf_{t \to 1} \frac{\Omega_D(\gamma(t))}{\Omega_{D'}(f(\gamma(t)))} \ge a\lambda_p$.

By Proposition 4.11, we have

(6.2)
$$\lim_{t \to 1} \frac{\Omega_B(\gamma(t))}{\Omega_D(\gamma(t))} = 1.$$

By [2, Corollary 1.8], (recalling that $\tilde{\rho}_q^{D'}$ is also the Lempert projection of W' onto $\varphi_q^{D'}$), we know that $\tilde{\rho}_q^{D'}(f(\gamma(t)))$ converges to 1 non-tangentially. Since $\varphi_q^{D'}(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ is transverse to $\partial D'$ at q, this implies that if v is the limit as $n \to \infty$ of $\frac{(f(\gamma(t_n))'}{|(f(\gamma(t_n))'|)}$ for some sequence $t_n \to 1$, then either $v \notin T_q \partial D'$ or $v \in T_q^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D'$. Hence, by Proposition 4.11, we have

$$\lim_{t \to 1} \frac{\Omega_{D'}(f(\gamma(t)))}{\Omega_{W'}(f(\gamma(t)))} = 1.$$

By the previous equation and (6.2) we have

$$\tilde{\lambda}_p \ge \liminf_{t \to 1} \frac{\Omega_B(\gamma(t))}{\Omega_{W'}(q(\gamma(t)))} = \liminf_{t \to 1} \frac{\Omega_D(\gamma(t))}{\Omega_{D'}(f(\gamma(t)))} \frac{\Omega_{D'}(f(\gamma(t)))}{\Omega_{W'}(f(\gamma(t)))} \frac{\Omega_B(\gamma(t))}{\Omega_D(\gamma(t))} \ge a\lambda_p.$$

By the arbitrariness of a, we have $\tilde{\lambda}_p \geq \lambda_p$, and we are done.

It is interesting to compare Theorem 6.1 with Abate's Julia-Wolff-Carathéodory theorem for strongly pseudoconvex domains [3, Theorem 0.2]:

Theorem 6.3 (Abate). Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $D' \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ be bounded, strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$. Let $f: D \to D'$ be holomorphic. Suppose

(6.3)
$$\liminf_{z \to p} \frac{dist(f(z), \partial D')}{dist(z, \partial D)} < +\infty.$$

Then there exists a unique point $q \in \partial D'$ such that f has non-tangential limit q at p, the following maps are bounded on every cone in D with vertex at p:

- (1) $\pi_a(df_z(\nu_p)),$
- (2) $dist(z, \partial D)^{1/2} d(f \overline{\pi_q} \circ f)_z(\nu_p),$
- (3) $\operatorname{dist}(z,\partial D)^{-1/2}\pi_q(\operatorname{df}_z(\tau_p)),$
- (4) $d(f \overline{\pi_q} \circ f)_z(\tau_p)$,

where ν_p is the outer unit normal vector of ∂D at p (with respect to the Hermitian product in \mathbb{C}^n), ν_q is the unit outward normal of ∂D at q and $\pi_q(v) := \langle v, \nu_q \rangle \nu_q$ and τ_p denotes any complex tangent vector to ∂D at p. Moreover, the map (1) has finite nonzero non-tangential *limit and the maps (2) and (3) have non-tangential limit* 0 *at* p.

Again, in the statement, non-tangential approach can be replaced with K-regions approach.

Using Lempert's special coordinates, one can take $\nu_p = v_p^D$ and $\pi_q = \rho_q^{D'}$, so that, the conclusions of Theorem 6.1 and Theorem 6.3 are almost the same. The main difference between Theorem 6.1 and Theorem 6.3 is that the value of the normal projection of the derivative along the normal direction (when such directions are chosen to be "compatible") can be computed in terms of an intrinsic data, the number λ_p , as in the case of strongly convex domains.

Using estimates of the Kobayashi distance, it is easy to see that (6.3) is equivalent to

(6.4)
$$\frac{1}{2}\log\beta_f := \liminf_{z \to p} [k_D(z_0, z) - k_{D'}(f(z), z_0')] < +\infty$$

where $z_0 \in D$ and $z'_0 \in D'$ are two fixed points.

As we remarked in the proof of Theorem 6.1, in the strongly convex case (when suitably choosing z_0, z_0'), $\beta_f = \lambda_p$ (defined as in (6.1)), and this is also the value of the projection of the derivative of f along the chosen complex geodesic at p. In strongly pseudoconvex domains however, there is no known relation between β_f and the value of the normal projection of the differential of f along the normal direction. Here we prove that, however, Abate's hypothesis (6.3) is equivalent to (6.1):

Proposition 6.4. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $D' \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ be bounded, strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. For each $p \in \partial D$ (respectively, $q \in \partial D'$) let (α_p, θ_p) (respect., (α'_p, θ'_p)) be a compatible defining couple of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}}\partial D$ (respect., $T_q^{\mathbb{C}}\partial D'$). Let $z_0 \in D$ and $z_0' \in D'$. Let $f: D \to D'$ be holomorphic. Then the following are equivalent:

- (1) $\lambda_p < +\infty$,
- (2) $\liminf_{z\to p} [k_D(z_0,z) k_{D'}(f(z),z_0')] < +\infty,$ (3) $\liminf_{z\to p} \frac{\operatorname{dist}(f(z),\partial D')}{\operatorname{dist}(z,\partial D)} < +\infty.$

Proof. We already saw that (2) and (3) are equivalent. In particular, the choice of z_0, z_0' is irrelevant for (2). Now we use the same notations as in the proof of Theorem 6.1, setting $z_0 = \varphi_p^D(0)$ and $z_0' = \varphi_q^{D'}(0)$. We saw that $\lambda_p = \tilde{\lambda}_p$. Hence, it is enough to show that (2) is equivalent to $\tilde{\lambda}_p < +\infty$.

On the one side, for all $z \in B$, since $B \subset D$ and $D' \subset W'$,

$$k_D(z_0, z) - k_{D'}(f(z), z'_0) \le k_B(z_0, z) - k_{W'}(f(z), z'_0),$$

and hence, (1) implies (2).

On the other side, if (2) holds, it follows from the proof of Theorem 6.3 that there exists a sequence $\{z_n\} \subset D$ converging to p such that $\{f(z_n)\}$ converges to q (in fact, a posteriori, any sequence converging non-tangentially to p does) and

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} [k_D(z_0, z_n) - k_{D'}(f(z_n), z'_0)] < +\infty.$$

By [12, Lemma 5.4], we can find $T \ge 1$ such that for n sufficiently large so that z_n stays sufficiently close to p and $f(z_n)$ stays sufficiently close to q, we have

$$|k_B(z_n, z_0) - k_D(z, z_0)| + |k_{W'}(f(z_n), z_0') - k_{D'}(f(z_n), z_0')| \le \log T.$$

Hence (2) implies $\tilde{\lambda}_p < +\infty$ —and hence (1) holds.

7. FURTHER PROPERTIES OF THE PLURICOMPLEX POISSON KERNEL

In this section we are going to prove some further property of the pluricomplex Poisson kernel in \mathbb{C}^n , such as uniqueness and (semi)continuity properties with respect to the change of pole, that will be useful later on.

We start by a uniqueness result, whose proof is exactly the same as that of [14, Thm. 7.1]:

Proposition 7.1. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary and let $p \in \partial D$. Fix a defining couple (α_p, θ_p) of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$. Let u be a maximal plurisubharmonic function on D such that $\lim_{x \to q} u(x) = 0$ for all $q \in \partial D \setminus \{p\}$ and

$$\lim_{z \to p} \frac{\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z)}{u(z)} = 1.$$

Then $u = \Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$.

Remark 7.2. As observed in [24, Prop. 4.3], if D is strongly convex, the previous uniqueness result holds if one replaces unrestricted limits with non-tangential limits. The proof of this result relies on complex geodesics and it is not clear how to extend to strongly pseudoconvex domains.

Next, we prove that the pluricomplex Poisson kernel can be used to define a measure on the boundary:

Proposition 7.3. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Choose a defining couple (α_p, θ_p) of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$ which varies continuously with respect to p. Then, the function $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z)$ is upper semicontinuous with respect to the variable $p \in \partial D$.

Proof. Since D is relatively compact with smooth boundary, there exists r > 0 small enough such that the ball $\mathbb{B}_p(r)$ of radius r internally tangent at D in p is contained in D, for each $p \in \partial D$.

Let us define $g: D \times \partial D \to \mathbb{R}_{\leq 0}$ as

(7.1)
$$g(z,p) = \begin{cases} \Omega_{\mathbb{B}_p(r),p}(z) & \text{if } z \in \mathbb{B}_p(r) \\ 0 & \text{if } z \notin \mathbb{B}_p(r) \end{cases}$$

The function g(z,p) is continuous in both variables. Moreover $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}(z) \leq g(z,p)$ by Lemma 2.7. Let us fix a point $q \in \partial D$ and a sequence $\{q_n\} \subset \partial D, \ q_n \to q$. The functions $\Omega_{D,q_n}^{\alpha_{q_n}}(z)$ are negative, hence uniformly bounded from above. Taking the maximum limit for $n \to \infty$, in $\Omega_{D,q_n}^{\alpha_{q_n}}(z) \leq g(z,q_n)$ we get

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \Omega_{D,q_n}^{\alpha_{q_n}}(z) \leq g(z,q).$$

Therefore the upper semicontinuous regularization with respect to z satisfies

$$F_q(z) = (\limsup_{n \to \infty} \Omega_{D,q_n}^{\alpha_{q_n}}(z))^* \le (g(z,q))^* = g(z,q).$$

Hence $F_q(z) \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_q}(D)$, thus

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \Omega_{D,q_n}^{\alpha_{q_n}}(z) \leq F_q(z) \leq \Omega_{D,q}^{\alpha_q}(z).$$

Namely $\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha_p}$ is upper semicontinuous in q.

Proposition 7.4. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Choose a defining couple (α_p, θ_p) of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$ which varies continuously with respect to p. Let $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a compact set. Then the function $|\Omega_{p,D}^{\alpha_p}(z)|$ is uniformly bounded in $p \in \partial D$ with respect to $z \in K$.

Proof. By Fornæss' embedding theorem [19, Theorem 9] there exist $N \geq n$, a smooth bounded strongly convex domain $D' \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ and a holomorphic map $F : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^N$ such that F is a biholomorphism on the image, which is a closed subvariety of \mathbb{C}^N , $F(D) \subset D'$, $F(\partial D) \subset \partial D'$ and $F(\mathbb{C}^n)$ intersects transversally $\partial D'$.

Let $q \in \partial D'$, and let ν'_q be the outer unit normal vector at $\partial D'$ in q.

The transversality in Fornæss' embedding theorem allows to define a defining couple (α_p^F, θ_p^F) for $T_p \partial D$ by setting

$$\theta_p^F(v) := \langle dF_p(v), \nu'_{F(p)} \rangle,$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the standard hermitian product in \mathbb{C}^N , and $\alpha_p^F := \pm \text{Im}\,(\theta_p^F|_{T_p\partial D})$, where the sign is chosen so that $a_p\alpha_p^F = \alpha_p$ for some $a_p > 0$. Note that (θ_p^F, α_p^F) varies continuously in p.

Since also α_p varies continuously in p and ∂D is compact, it turns out that a_p is continuous in p and there exists A > 0 such that for all $p \in \partial D$,

$$a_p \leq A$$
.

Let us define $\phi: D' \times \partial D' \to \mathbb{C}$ as

$$\phi(w,q) = \langle w - q, \nu_q' \rangle, \quad \forall (w,q) \in D' \times \partial D',$$

The function $h: D \times \partial D \to \mathbb{C}$,

$$h(z, p) = \exp(\phi(F(z), F(p))), \forall (z, p) \in D \times \partial D$$

is continuous in p, and —for each fixed $p \in \partial D$ — is a strong peak function in p for the domain D, \mathcal{C}^1 -smooth up to the boundary. Moreover since D' is strongly convex, it follows that for all $z \in D$ and $p \in \partial D$

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle F(z) - F(p), \nu'_{F(p)} \rangle < 0,$$

and hence $h(z, p) \in \mathbb{D}$ for all $z \in D$ and $p \in \partial D$ and h(p, p) = 1.

Hence, for each fixed $p \in \partial D$, $P_{\mathbb{D}}(h(z,p))$ is a negative plurisubharmonic function in D. Moreover, let $\gamma:[0,1]\to D\cup\{p\}$ be a C^{∞} curve such that $\gamma(t)\in D$ for all $t\in[0,1)$, $\gamma(1)=p$ and $\gamma'(1)\not\in T_p\partial D$. Then

$$\lim_{t \to 1} P_{\mathbb{D}}(h(\gamma(t), p))(1 - t) = \lim_{t \to 1} -\text{Re}\left(\frac{1 + \exp(\langle F(\gamma(t)) - F(p), \nu'_{F(p)} \rangle)}{1 - \exp(\langle F(\gamma(t)) - F(p), \nu'_{F(p)} \rangle)}(1 - t)\right)$$

$$= -2\text{Re}\frac{1}{\langle dF_p(\gamma'(1)), \nu'_{F(p)} \rangle},$$

Therefore, $P_{\mathbb{D}}(h(\cdot,p)) \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p^F}(D)$ and, by Proposition 2.6, $a_p P_{\mathbb{D}}(h(\cdot,p)) \in \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_p}(D)$ for all $p \in \partial D$. Hence,

$$a_p P_{\mathbb{D}}(h(z,p)) \le \Omega_{p,D}^{\alpha_p}(z) \le 0.$$

By continuity, there exists a positive constant $M_K>0$ such that $|P_{\mathbb{D}}\circ h(z,p)|\leq M_K$ for all $z\in K$ and $p\in\partial D$. Thus

$$|\Omega_{p,D}^{\alpha_p}(z)| \leq a_p |P_{\mathbb{D}}(h(z,p))| \leq a_p M_K \leq AM_K, \quad \forall z \in K,$$

proving the statement.

8. Pluricomplex Poisson Kernel vs Pluricomplex Green function

The aim of this section is to relate the pluricomplex Poisson kernel with the pluricomplex Green function of a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain in \mathbb{C}^n .

Recall that, given a hyperconvex bounded domain $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ the pluricomplex Green function of D with pole $z \in D$ (see, e.g., [25]) is

$$G_D(z, w) := \sup\{u(w) : u < 0, u \in psh(D), \limsup_{w \to z} [u(w) - \log|w - z|] < +\infty\}.$$

The function $G_D(z,\cdot)$, extended by 0 on ∂D , is continuous on $\overline{D}\setminus\{z\}$, plurisubharmonic and maximal. Moreover, $G_D(\cdot,\cdot)$ is continuous (as function with values in $[-\infty,0]$) on $D\times\overline{D}$ (see [17, Théorèm (0.6)])

In case D is smooth and strongly convex, Lempert [26] showed that G_D is symmetric in (z,w) and it is smooth on $\overline{D} \times \overline{D} \setminus \{(z,w) : z=w\}$. In case D is smooth and strongly pseudoconvex $G_D(z,\cdot)$ is in general not C^2 and it is in general not symmetric in (z,w) (see [4]). Actually, the symmetry in (z,w) is equivalent to the plurisubharmonicity of the function $G_D(\cdot,w)$ for all fixed $w \in D$.

However, by results of Guan [20] and Błocki [7], the pluricomplex Green function $G_D(z,w)$ of a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain in \mathbb{C}^n with pole at z is $C^{1,1}$ with respect to $w \in \overline{D} \setminus \{z\}$. In what follows we need this slight extension of the previous result:

Lemma 8.1. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $p \in \partial D$ and denote by ν_p the outer unit normal vector to ∂D at p. For every compact set $K_1 \subset \subset D$ there exist $h_0 > 0$ and C > 0 such that

$$\left| \frac{\partial G_D(z, p)}{\partial \nu_p} - \frac{\partial G_D(z, p - t\nu_p)}{\partial \nu_p} \right| \le Ct$$

for all $t \in [0, h_0]$ and $z \in K_1$.

Proof. We follow the argument in [8].

Fix $z \in D$. For a given $\epsilon > 0$ let $D_{\epsilon} := D \setminus \overline{B(z, \epsilon)}$, where $B(z, \epsilon)$ is the Euclidean ball of center z and radius $\epsilon > 0$.

For a fixed $z \in K_1$, Błocki in [8] proves that given $\epsilon > 0$ small and $\delta \in (0,1)$ there exist continuous functions $g_z^{\epsilon}(w)$ converging locally uniformly to $G_D(z,\cdot)$ in $D\setminus \{z\}$ as ϵ goes to zero (see [8, Eq. (2.2)]) and that there exist functions $g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}$ which are smooth on $\overline{D_{\epsilon}}$ (see [8, Prop. 2.2]) and uniformly converge to g_z^{ϵ} in D_{ϵ} as δ goes to zero (see [8, Eq. (2.3)]). Actually, in [7], the functions g_z^{ϵ} and $g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}$ are denoted by g^{ϵ} and $g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}$ (without the subscript z). For the sake of clarity, we prefer to indicate here also the corresponding pole.

Take $\tilde{\epsilon}>0$ such that $\tilde{K}_1:=\bigcup_{z\in K_1}\overline{B(z,\tilde{\epsilon})}\subset\subset D$ and let $h_0>0$ be such that $p-t\nu_p\in D\backslash \tilde{K}_1$ for all $t\in(0,h_0]$.

Claim: There exist $\epsilon_0 \in (0, \tilde{\epsilon})$, $\delta_0 \in (0, 1)$ and C > 0 such that for all $t \in [0, h_0]$, $z \in K_1$, $\delta < \delta_0$ and $\epsilon < \epsilon_0$,

(8.1)
$$|\nabla g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(p-t\nu_p)| + |\nabla^2 g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(p-t\nu_p)| \le C.$$

Assuming the claim for the moment, the proof ends as follows. Let $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_0)$. The estimate (8.1) implies that the first and second derivatives of the functions $[0,h_0]\ni t\mapsto v_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(t):=g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(p-t\nu_p)$ are uniformly bounded. By the Mean Value Theorem, this implies also that the $v_z^{\epsilon,\delta}$ and their first derivatives are Lipschitz in $[0,h_0]$ with uniform constant C>0 (independent of $z\in K_1,\epsilon,\delta$). Since for any fixed $t\in (0,h_0], g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(p-t\nu_p)$ converges to $g_z^{\epsilon}(p-t\nu_p)$ as $\delta\to 0$, it follows that also the $\{v_z^{\epsilon,\delta}\}$ are uniformly bounded. By Arzelà-Ascoli's Theorem, for $z\in K_1$

and ϵ fixed, up to extracting subsequences, we can assume that $\{v_z^{\epsilon,\delta}\}$ converges uniformly as $\delta \to 0$ in the C^1 -topology of $[0,h_0]$ to a function $v_z^{\epsilon}:[0,h_0] \to \mathbb{R}$. Clearly, v_z^{ϵ} and their first derivatives are uniformly bounded and Lipschitz in $[0,h_0]$, with uniform Lipschitz constant C>0. Since $v_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(t)=g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(p-t\nu_p)$ and these latter functions converge to $g_z^{\epsilon}(p-t\nu_p)$ as $\delta \to 0$, it follows that the functions $(0,h_0]\ni t\mapsto g_z^{\epsilon}(p-t\nu_p)$ can be extended C^1 on $[0,h_0]$ and they are, together with their first derivatives, uniformly Lipschitz in $[0,h_0]$.

Repeating the previous argument with the functions v_z^ϵ instead of $v_z^{\epsilon,\delta}$ and taking the limit for $\delta \to 0$, we see that also $G_D(z,p-t\nu_p)$ and its derivative with respect to t, that is $-\frac{\partial G_D(z,p-t\nu_p)}{\partial \nu_p}$, are uniformly Lipschitz in $t \in [0,h_0]$ independently of $z \in K_1$, and we are done.

We are left to prove the claim. In [8, Thm. 1.1 and Thm. 3.1] it is proved that for any $z \in K_1$ there exist $\epsilon_z > 0$, $\delta_z \in (0, 1)$ and a constant $C_z > 0$ such that for all $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_z)$ and $\delta \in (0, \delta_z)$,

$$|\nabla g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(w)| \le \frac{C_z}{|w-z|} \quad \forall w \in D_{\epsilon}$$
$$|\nabla^2 g_z^{\epsilon,\delta}(w)| \le \frac{C_z}{|w-z|^2} \quad \forall w \in D_{\epsilon}.$$

Note that, if $\epsilon < \tilde{\epsilon}$ and $t \in [0,h_p]$, then $p-t\nu_p \in D_{\epsilon}$. Therefore the previous estimate holds in particular for $w=p-t\nu_p, t \in (0,h_0]$. Moreover, $\min\{|p-t\nu_p-z|: t \in [0,h_0], z \in K_1\}>0$. Hence, in order to prove (8.1), it is enough to show that there exist $C'>0, \, \delta_0 \in (0,1)$ and $\epsilon_0 \in (0,\tilde{\epsilon})$ such that $\delta_z \geq \delta_0, \, \epsilon_z \geq \epsilon_0$ and $C_z \leq C'$ for all $z \in K_1$ and $w=p-t\nu_p, \, t \in (0,h_0]$.

Analyzing Błocki's proof, one can check that the dependence of δ_z , ϵ_z and C_z on z is via the distance of z from ∂D and a constant b(z) (defined and called just b at [8, pag. 348]) which is defined by

$$b(z) := \liminf_{w \to \partial D} \frac{|G_D(z, w)|}{\operatorname{dist}(w, \partial D)}.$$

In particular, one can check that if $\inf_{z \in K_1} \operatorname{dist}(z, \partial D) > 0$ (which is the case since K_1 is compact in D) and $\inf_{z \in K_1} b(z) > 0$ then there exist C', ϵ_0 , $\delta_0 > 0$ such that $C_z \leq C'$, $\delta_z \geq \delta_0$ and $\epsilon_z \geq \epsilon_0$ for all $z \in K_1$.

So we are left to show that $\inf_{z\in K_1}b(z)>0$. To this aim, let \bar{r} be a positive constant such that for all $p\in\partial D$ the open ball of radius $2\bar{r}$ tangent to ∂D in p is contained in D. Let $T_{\bar{r}}:=\{w\in D: \operatorname{dist}(w,\partial D)\geq \bar{r}\}$ and replace the γ at pag. 348 in [8] with $\gamma:=\max_{K_1\times T_{\bar{r}}}G(z,w)$. Then, following again the argument in the proof of [8, Theorem 1.1] at p. 348, we see that there exists $\beta>0$ such that $b(z)\geq\beta>0$ for any $z\in K_1$, and we are done.

Lemma 8.2. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let ν_p denote the outer unit normal vector to ∂D at p. Suppose that the pluricomplex Green function G_D is symmetric, then:

- (1) $D \ni z \mapsto -\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p}$ is a maximal plurisubharmonic function in D for all $p \in \partial D$.
- (2) For every p and q in ∂D with $p \neq q$, $\lim_{z \to q} \frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p} = 0$.

Proof. (1) Fix $p \in \partial D$. Since G_D vanishes on the boundary of D, then

$$-\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p} = \lim_{h \to 0^+} \frac{G_D(z,p-h\nu_p)}{h}.$$

Now if z varies on a compact set K of D, by Lemma 8.1, and by the Mean Value Theorem, for h > 0 small, we have

$$\left| \frac{G_D(z, p - h\nu_p)}{h} + \frac{\partial G_D(z, p)}{\partial \nu_p} \right| = \left| -\frac{\partial G_D(z, p - t\nu_p)}{\partial \nu_p} + \frac{\partial G_D(z, p)}{\partial \nu_p} \right| \le Ct,$$

where $t \in (0, h)$.

Hence the functions $z\mapsto \frac{G_D(z,p-h\nu_p)}{h}$ converge locally uniformly in $z\in D$ to $z\mapsto -\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p}$. Now for every fixed h>0 the function $D\ni z\mapsto G_D(z,p-h\nu_p)$ is maximal plurisubharmonic since we are assuming it is symmetric. From this and the locally uniformly convergence, (1) follows.

(2) Fix $q \in \partial D \setminus \{p\}$. By [19, Theorem 9] there exist $m \geq n$, a smooth bounded strongly convex domain $C \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ and a holomorphic map $\Phi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^m$, so that Φ is a biholomorphism onto its image and $\Phi(\mathbb{C}^n)$ is a closed subvariety of \mathbb{C}^m . Moreover, $\Phi(D) \subset C$, $\Phi(\partial D) \subset \partial C$ and $\Phi(\mathbb{C}^n)$ intersects transversally ∂C .

Let $\tilde{p} := \Phi(p)$. Since $d\Phi_p(T_p\partial D) \subset T_{\tilde{p}}\partial C$ and $\Phi(\mathbb{C}^n)$ intersects transversally ∂C , it follows that $d\Phi_p(\nu_p) \not\in T_{\tilde{p}}\partial C$. Thus, up to an affine change of coordinates in \mathbb{C}^m , we can assume that $d\Phi_p(\nu_p) = \nu_{\tilde{p}}$, where $\nu_{\tilde{p}}$ denotes the outer unit normal vector to ∂C at \tilde{p} .

Fix h>0 and let $u(z,h):=G_C(\Phi(z),\Phi(p-h\nu_p))$ and $x_h:=p-h\nu_p$. Note that $u(\cdot,h)$ is a negative plurisubharmonic function in D. Moreover, let $C:=\sup_{z\in D}\log\frac{\|\Phi(z)-\Phi(x_h)\|}{\|z-x_h\|}$. Note that $C<+\infty$ since Φ is holomorphic in \mathbb{C}^n . Then,

$$\lim_{z \to x_h} \sup(u(z, h) - \log ||z - x_h||) = \lim_{z \to x_h} \sup(u(z, h) - \log ||\Phi(z) - \Phi(x_h)|| + \log \frac{\|\Phi(z) - \Phi(x_h)\|}{\|z - x_h\|})$$

$$\leq \lim_{z \to x_h} \sup(G_C(\Phi(z), \Phi(p - h\nu_p)) - \log \|\Phi(z) - \Phi(x_h)\| + C) < +\infty,$$

where $\limsup_{z\to x_h}(G_C(\Phi(z),\Phi(p-h\nu_p))-\log\|\Phi(z)-\Phi(x_h)\|)<+\infty$ by the very definition of pluricomplex Green function. Since $G_D(\cdot,x_h)$ is the supremum of all negative plurisub-harmonic functions in D having at most a log-singularity at x_h , it follows that $u(z,h)\leq G_D(z,p-h\nu_p)$ for all $z\in D$. Therefore,

$$0 \ge -\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p} = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{G_D(z,p-h\nu_p)}{h} \ge \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{G_C(\Phi(z),\Phi(p-h\nu_p))}{h} = -\frac{\partial G_C(\Phi(z),\tilde{p})}{\partial \nu_{\tilde{p}}}.$$

Since, by [14, Thm. 6.1], $-\frac{\partial G_C(\Phi(z),\tilde{p})}{\partial \nu_{\tilde{p}}} = \Omega_{\tilde{C},\tilde{p}}(\Phi(z))$ and hence $\lim_{z\to q} -\frac{\partial G_C(\Phi(z),\tilde{p})}{\partial \nu_{\tilde{p}}} = 0$, we are done.

Now we relate the pluricomplex Green function with the pluricomplex Poisson kernel. First of all, notice that if $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain in \mathbb{C}^n with smooth boundary, one can choose at each point the outer unit normal vector ν_p , and the map $\partial D \ni p \mapsto \nu_p$ is smooth. At each point $p \in \partial D$ we can then choose the defining couple for $T_p \partial D$ given by $\tilde{\theta}_p(v) = -i\langle v, \nu_p \rangle$, $v \in \mathbb{C}^n$, and $\tilde{\alpha}_p := \operatorname{Im} \theta_p|_{T_p \partial D}$. These defining couples vary continuously with p. With this choice, we denote

$$\Omega_{D,p} := \Omega_{D,p}^{\tilde{\alpha}_p}.$$

Proposition 8.3. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. For each $p \in \partial D$, let ν_p denote the outer unit normal vector to ∂D . Suppose that the pluricomplex Green function G_D is symmetric. Then for all $z \in D$,

$$-\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p} = \Omega_{D,p}(z).$$

Proof. By Lemma 8.2 and Proposition 7.1 we only need to show that

$$\lim_{z \to p} \frac{-\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p}}{\Omega_{D,p}(z)} = 1.$$

Arguing as in Subsection 4.3, we can assume that $B \subset D \subset W$ where B and W are strongly convex domains with smooth boundaries and ∂D , ∂B and ∂W coincide near p. Let $\Omega_{B,p}$ (respectively $\Omega_{W,p}$) be the pluricomplex Poisson kernel of B (resp., of W) associated to $(\tilde{\alpha}_p, \tilde{\theta}_p)$.

Fix a compatible defining couple (α', θ') for $T_p^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D$. By Proposition 2.6 there exists c > 0 such that $\Omega_{D,p} = c\Omega_{D,p}^{\alpha'}$, $\Omega_{B,p} = c\Omega_{B,p}^{\alpha'}$ and $\Omega_{W,p} = c\Omega_{W,p}^{\alpha'}$.

Since $B \subset D \subset W$ for all $z, w \in B$, $z \neq w$, we have

$$G_W(z, w) < G_D(z, w) < G_B(z, w).$$

Since for $w \to p$ the pluricomplex Green functions of B, D, W tends to 0, we obtain for all $z \in B$,

$$-\frac{\partial G_W(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p} \le -\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p} \le -\frac{\partial G_B(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p}.$$

By [14, Thm. 6.1], $-\frac{\partial G_B(\cdot,p)}{\partial \nu_p} = \Omega_{B,p}$ and $-\frac{\partial G_W(\cdot,p)}{\partial \nu_p} = \Omega_{W,p}$. Hence, by (4.6), for all $z \in B$,

$$\frac{\Omega_{B,p}(z)}{\Omega_{W,p}(z)} \le \frac{-\frac{\partial G_D(z,p)}{\partial \nu_p}}{\Omega_{D,p}(z)} \le \frac{\Omega_{W,p}(z)}{\Omega_{B,p}(z)}.$$

Taking the limit for $z \to p$, the result follows from Proposition 4.11.

9. Reproducing formula

We briefly recall Demailly's construction [16, 17] for the reproducing formula of pluri(sub)harmonic functions in terms of the pluricomplex Green function.

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let ψ be a defining function of D and define

$$\omega_{\partial D} := \frac{(dd^c \, \psi)^{n-1} \wedge d^c \psi}{|d\psi|^n}|_{\partial D},$$

where $d^c\psi=i(\overline{\partial}-\partial)\psi$. The form $\omega_{\partial D}$ is a positive (2n-1)-real form, independent of the function ψ chosen to define it.

Remark 9.1. The form $\omega_{\partial D}$ can be also expressed in terms of the Levi form, Levi(ψ), of ψ :

(9.1)
$$\omega_{\partial D} = 4^{n-1}(n-1)! \frac{\det(\operatorname{Levi}\psi)}{|d\psi|^{n-1}} d\operatorname{Vol}_{\partial D}.$$

In order to prove such a formula, fix an orthonormal basis (v_1,\ldots,v_{n-1}) of $T_p^{\mathbb{C}}\partial D$, and let, as usual, ν_p be the outer unit normal vector of ∂D at p. Fix the orientation of \mathbb{C}^n given by the orthonormal basis $(v_1,Jv_1,\ldots,v_{n-1},Jv_{n-1},\nu_p,J\nu_p)$. With such a choice, the set $\mathcal{B}=(v_1,Jv_1,\ldots,v_{n-1},Jv_{n-1},J\nu_p)$ is a positive-oriented orthonormal basis of $T_p\partial D$.

If
$$p \in \partial D$$
, $v \in T_p \partial D$

$$d^{c}\psi(Jv) = i\sum_{j} \left[\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \overline{z}_{j}} (-i\overline{v_{j}}) - \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial z_{j}} (iv_{j}) \right] = \sum_{j} \left[\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \overline{z}_{j}} \overline{v_{j}} + \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial z_{j}} v_{j} \right] = (d\psi)_{p}(v).$$

Let us compute the form $\omega_{\partial D}$ in the basis \mathcal{B} :

$$\frac{(dd^c\psi)^{n-1} \wedge d^c\psi}{|d\psi|^n}(v_1, Jv_1, \dots, v_{n-1}, Jv_{n-1}, Jv_p) = \frac{(dd^c\psi)^{n-1}}{|d\psi|^{n-1}}(v_1, Jv_1, \dots, v_{n-1}, Jv_{n-1}).$$

Let $w_j := \frac{1}{2}(v_j - iJv_j)$ and let β_s be the (1,0)-form such that

$$\beta_s\left(w_j\right) = \delta_{js} \,.$$

Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_{n-1}$ be the eigenvalues and v_1, \ldots, v_{n-1} be a diagonalizing orthonormal basis of the Hermitian form

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial z_i \partial \overline{z}_j}\right)_p (u_1; u_2), \quad u_1, u_2 \in T^{\mathbb{C}} \partial D.$$

Then $dd^c\psi=2i\partial\overline{\partial}\psi$ and so

$$dd^{c}\psi|_{T_{p}^{\mathbb{C}}\wedge T_{p}^{\mathbb{C}}} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} 2i\lambda_{j}\beta_{j} \wedge \overline{\beta}_{j}.$$

Hence

$$\left(dd^c\psi|_{T_p^{\mathbb{C}}\wedge T_p^{\mathbb{C}}}\right)^{n-1} = \sum_{j_1,\dots,j_{n-1}} \lambda_{j_1}\cdots\lambda_{j_{n-1}}(2i)^{n-1}(\beta_{j_1}\wedge\overline{\beta}_{j_1})\wedge\cdots\wedge(\beta_{j_{n-1}}\wedge\overline{\beta}_{j_{n-1}}),.$$

Each term is a wedge product of (1, 1)-forms, hence those forms commute and we can write

$$\left(dd^c\psi|_{T_p^{\mathbb{C}}\wedge T_p^{\mathbb{C}}}\right)^{n-1} = (n-1)!(2i)^{n-1}\lambda_1\cdots\lambda_{n-1}\beta_1\wedge\overline{\beta}_1\wedge\cdots\wedge\beta_{n-1}\wedge\overline{\beta}_{n-1}.$$

Since

$$2i(\beta_k \wedge \overline{\beta}_k)(v_h, Jv_h) = 2i\beta_k \wedge \overline{\beta}_k \left(w_h + \overline{w}_h; \frac{w_h - \overline{w}_h}{-i}\right) = 4\delta_{h,k},$$

equation (9.1) follows.

Let φ be a negative plurisubharmonic exhaustion function in D such that $\exp(\varphi)$ is continuous on \overline{D} and $\varphi=0$ on ∂D . Let r<0 and let $B(r):=\{z\in D: \varphi(z)< r\}$. Let $\varphi_r(z)=\max\{\varphi(z),r\}$. Hence, $(dd^c\varphi_r)^n=\chi_{\mathbb{C}^n\setminus B(r)}(dd^c\varphi)^n+\mu_{\varphi,r}$, where $\chi_{\mathbb{C}^n\setminus B(r)}$ is the characteristic function of $\mathbb{C}^n\setminus B(r)$ and $\mu_{\varphi,r}$ is a positive measure supported on $\partial B(r)$. If $\int_D (dd^c\varphi)^n<+\infty$ then $\mu_{\varphi,r}$ weakly converges to a positive measure μ_φ supported on ∂D as $r\to 0$ and whose total mass is $\int_D (dd^c\varphi)^n$.

Demailly [17, Théorème 5.1] proved the following representative formula: if f is a plurisub-harmonic function in D, continuous in \overline{D} , then

$$(9.2) f(z) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \mu_{G_D(z,\cdot)}(f) - \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{w \in D} |G_D(z,w)| dd^c f(w) \wedge (dd^c G_D(z,w))^{n-1}.$$

Demailly's formula holds, in fact, for hyperconvex bounded domains.

We first show that for strongly pseudoconvex domains the measure μ_z is related to the pluricomplex Green function:

Lemma 9.2. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Let $G_D(z,w)$ be the pluricomplex Green function of D with pole in $z \in D$. Let ν_p denote the outer unit normal vector to ∂D at $p \in \partial D$. Then

(9.3)
$$\mu_{G_D(z,\cdot)} = \left(\frac{\partial G_D(z,\cdot)}{\partial \nu_p}\right)^n \omega_{\partial D}.$$

Proof. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2(\overline{D})$ be a strictly plurisubharmonic defining function for D, i.e. φ is strictly plurisubharmonic and negative on D, and vanishes on ∂D .

Fix $z \in D$. Let $p \in \partial D$. Since both φ and $G_D(z,\cdot)$ vanish on ∂D , then $d\varphi|_{T_p\partial D}=0$, $dG_D(z,\cdot)|_{T_p\partial D}=0$. Therefore, there exist real numbers a,b such that $dG_D(z,\cdot)|_{w=p}(v)=a\operatorname{Re}\langle \nu_p,v\rangle$ and $d\varphi_p(v)=b\operatorname{Re}\langle \nu_p,v\rangle$ for all $v\in\mathbb{C}^n$ (where, as usual, $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$ denotes the standard Hermitian product in \mathbb{C}^n). Since

$$dG_D(z,\cdot)|_{w=p}(\nu_p) = \frac{\partial G_D(z,\cdot)}{\partial \nu_p}, \quad \varphi_p(\nu_p) = \frac{\partial \varphi(p)}{\partial \nu_p},$$

and by Hopf's Lemma $\frac{\partial G_D(z,\cdot)}{\partial \nu_p} \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial \varphi(p)}{\partial \nu_p} \neq 0$, it follows that for every $\zeta \in D$,

$$\frac{G_D(z,w)}{\varphi(w)} = \frac{dG_D(z,\cdot)|_{w=p}(\frac{\zeta-p}{|\zeta-p|}) + o(1)}{d\varphi_p(\frac{\zeta-p}{|\zeta-p|}) + o(1)} = \frac{\frac{\partial G_D(z,\cdot)}{\partial \nu_p} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \nu_p, \frac{\zeta-p}{|\zeta-p|} \right\rangle + o(1)}{\frac{\partial \varphi(p)}{\partial \nu_p} \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \nu_p, \frac{\zeta-p}{|\zeta-p|} \right\rangle + o(1)}.$$

Hence,

(9.4)
$$\lim_{w \to p} \frac{G_D(z, w)}{\varphi(w)} = \frac{\frac{\partial G_D(z, \cdot)}{\partial \nu_p}(p)}{\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \nu_p}(p)}.$$

Let us now consider the measure on ∂D

$$\mu_{\varphi} = (dd^c \varphi)^{n-1} \wedge d^c \varphi|_{\partial D}.$$

By [17, Théorème 3.8] and (9.4), it follows immediately that

$$\mu_{G_D(z,\cdot)} = \frac{\left(\frac{\partial G_D(z,\cdot)}{\partial \nu_p}(p)\right)^n}{\left(\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \nu_p}(p)\right)^n}\bigg|_{\partial D} \mu_{\varphi}.$$

Since $|d\varphi_p| = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \nu_p}(p)$, we are done.

In case the pluricomplex Green function is symmetric, by Proposition 8.3 and Lemma 9.2 we have

Theorem 9.3. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain with smooth boundary. Assume that the pluricomplex Green function of D is symmetric. Then for every plurisubharmonic function f in D continuous up to the boundary,

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\partial D} f(\xi) |\Omega_{D,\xi}(z)|^n \omega_{\partial D}(\xi) - \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{w \in D} |G_D(z, w)| dd^c f(w) \wedge (dd^c G_D(z, w))^{n-1}.$$

In particular, if f is pluriharmonic in D and continuous on \overline{D} ,

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\partial D} f(\xi) |\Omega_{D,\xi}(z)|^n \omega_{\partial D}(\xi).$$

In the same formula for strongly convex domains (see, [14, Thm 8.2]) there is a missing factor $1/(2\pi)^n$ in front of the first integral.

We do not know if the previous formula holds in case G_D is not symmetric.

REFERENCES

- [1] M. Abate, *Iteration theory of holomorphic maps on taut manifolds*. Research and Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Complex Analysis and Geometry, Mediterranean Press, Rende, 1989.
- [2] M. Abate *The Lindelöf principle and the angular derivative in strongly convex domains*. J. Anal. Math, 54 (1990), 189-228.
- [3] M. Abate, *Angular derivatives in strongly pseudoconvex domains*. Several complex variables and complex geometry, Part 2 (Santa Cruz, CA, 1989), 23-40, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 52, Part 2, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1991.
- [4] E. Bedford, J.-P. Demailly, Two counterexamples concerning the pluri-complex Green function in \mathbb{C}^n . Indiana Univ. Math. J., 37, 4, (1988), 865-867.
- [5] E. Bedford, B.A. Taylor, *The Dirichlet problem for the complex Monge-Ampère equation*. Invent. Math. 37, (1976),1-44.
- [6] E. Bedford, B.A. Taylor, A new capacity for plurisubharmonic funtions. Acta Math. 149, (1982), 1-41.
- [7] Z. Błocki, The $C^{1,1}$ regularity of the pluricomplex Green function, Michigan Math. J. 47 (2000), 211-215.
- [8] Z. Błocki, Regularity of the Pluricomplex Green Function with Several Poles, Indiana University Mathematics Journal, 50 No. 1 (2001), 335-351.
- [9] F. Bracci, M. D. Contreras, S. Díaz-Madrigal, *Pluripotential theory, semigroups and boundary behavior of infinitesimal generators in strongly convex domains*. J. Eur. Math. Soc., 12, 1, (2010), 23-53.
- [10] F. Bracci, M. D. Contreras, S. Díaz-Madrigal, *Continuous Semigroups of Holomorphic Self-Maps of the Unit Disc.* Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020.
- [11] F. Bracci, J. E. Fornæss, E. F. Wold, Comparison of invariant metrics and distances on strongly pseudoconvex domains and worm domains. Math. Z., 292, 3-4, 879-893 (2019).
- [12] F. Bracci, H. Gaussier, *Horosphere topology*, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. di Pisa, Cl. Sci. 20, 1, 239-289, (2020).
- [13] F. Bracci, G. Patrizio, Monge-Ampère foliations with singularities at the boundary of strongly convex domains, Math. Ann., 332, 3, (2005) 499-522.
- [14] F. Bracci, G. Patrizio, S. Trapani, *The pluricomplex Poisson kernel for strongly convex domains*. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 361, 2, (2009), 979-1005.
- [15] C.H. Chang, M.C. Hu, H.P. Lee, Extremal analytic discs with prescribed boundary data. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 310,1 (1988) 355-369.
- [16] J.-P. Demailly, Mesures de Monge-Ampère et caractérisation géométrique des variétés algébriques affines Mém. Soc. Math. France (N.S.) No. 19 (1985)
- [17] J.-P. Demailly, Mesures de Monge-Ampère et mesures pluriharmoniques. Math. Z. 194, (1987), 519-564.
- [18] C. Fefferman, The Bergman kernel and biholomorphic mappings of pseudoconvex domains. Invent. Math. 26, (1974), 1-65.
- [19] J.-E. Fornaess, Embedding strictly pseudoconvex domains in convex domains. Amer. J. Math. 98 (1976), no. 2, 529–569.
- [20] B. Guan, The Dirichlet problem for complex Monge-Ampère equations and regularity of the pluricomplex Green function, Comm. Anal. Geom. 6 (1998), 687-703; a correction, 8 (2000), 213-218.
- [21] R. C. Gunning, H. Rossi, *Analytic functions of several complex variables*. Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1965, New York.
- [22] X. Huang, A non-degeneracy property of extremal mappings and iterates of holomorphic selfmappings. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 21 (1994), 3, 399-419.
- [23] X. Huang, A preservation principle of extremal mappings near a strongly pseudoconvex point and its applications. Illinois J. Math. 38(2), 283-302 (1994)

- [24] X. Huang, X. Wang, Complex geodesics and complex Monge-Ampère equations with boundary singularities, to appear in Math. Ann., arXiv:2002.00400v1
- [25] M. Klimek, Pluripotential theory. London Math. Soc. Monographs, Oxford University Press, 1991.
- [26] L. Lempert, La metrique de Kobayashi et la representation des domaines sur lá boule. Bull. Soc. Math. Fr. 109 (1981), 427-474.
- [27] L. Lempert, Holomorphic retracts and intrinsic metrics in convex domains. Analysis Math. 8 (1982), 257-261.
- [28] L. Lempert, *Intrinsic distances and holomorphic retracts*. Complex Analysis and Applications 81, Sofia, (1984), 341-364.
- [29] E. A. Poletsky, (Pluri)Potential Compactifications. Potential Anal. 53 (2020), no. 1, 231-245.
- [30] F. Wikström, The Dirichlet problem for maximal plurisubharmonic functions on analytic varieties in \mathbb{C}^n . Internat. J. Math. 20 (2009), no. 4, 521-528.
- [31] F. Wikström, Jensen measures and boundary values of plurisubharmonic functions. Ark. Mat. 39 (2001), 181-200.
- F. Bracci: Dipartimento Di Matematica, Università di Roma "Tor Vergata", Via Della Ricerca Scientifica 1, 00133, Roma, Italy

Email address: fbracci@mat.uniroma2.it

A. SARACCO: DIPARTIMENTO DI SCIENZE MATEMATICHE, FISICHE E INFORMATICHE, UNIVERSITÀ DI PARMA, PARCO AREA DELLE SCIENZE 53/A, 43124, PARMA, ITALY

Email address: alberto.saracco@unipr.it

S. Trapani: Dipartimento Di Matematica, Università di Roma "Tor Vergata", Via Della Ricerca Scientifica 1, 00133, Roma, Italy

Email address: trapani@mat.uniroma2.it